Assessment of Above-Ground Biomass and Carbon Sequestration Potential in the Moist Temperate Forests of Abbottabad District. A Geospatial Modeling Approach Using Satellite Imagery and Forest Inventory Data



Muddassira Amin

(2021-NUST-MS-362286)

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Remote Sensing and GIS

Institute of Geographical Information Systems School of Civil and Environmental Engineering National University of Sciences and Technology Islamabad, Pakistan

October 2024

## THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

Certified that final copy of MS/MPhil thesis written by <u>Muddassira Amin (Registration No.</u> <u>MSRSGIS 00000362286), of Session 2021 (Institute of Geographical Information</u> <u>Systems)</u> has been vetted by undersigned, found complete in all respects as per NUST Statutes/Regulation, is free of plagiarism, errors, and mistakes and is accepted as partial fulfillment for award of MS/MPhil degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature Name of Supervisor: Dr Javed Iqbal Date: 25-9-

Signature (HoD Date: b-

Dr. Muhammad All Tahir HoD & Assoc, Prof. SCEE (IGIS) NUST, H-12, Islamabad

Signature (Associate Dean): Date: 6-11-2014 \*\*

Or. Ejaz Hussain riste Dean IGIS. SCEE (NUST) H-12, ISLAMABAD

Signature (Principal & Dean SCEE): Date: <u>n7 NNV 7026</u> PROF

PROF DR MUHAMMAD IRFAN Principal & Dean SCEE, NUST

# ACADEMIC THESIS DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP

I, **Muddassira Amin**, declare that this thesis and the work presented in it are my own and have been generated by me as the result of my own original research, "Quantification of Above Ground Biomass and Carbon Sequestration Potential in Moist Temperate Forests of Abbottabad District. Integrating Satellite Images and Forest Inventory Data for Geospatial Modeling and Climate Impact Analysis". I confirm that:

- 1. This thesis is composed of my original work and contains no material previously published or written by another person except where due reference has been made in the text.
- 2. Wherever any part of this thesis has previously been submitted for a degree or any other qualification at this or any other institution, it has been clearly stated.
- 3. I have acknowledged all main sources of help.
- 4. Where the thesis is based on work done by myself jointly with others, I have made clear exactly what was done by others and what I have contributed myself.
- 5. None of this work has been published before submission.
- 6. This work is not plagiarized under the HEC plagiarism policy.



Signed:

Date: 19 November 2024

# DEDICATION

Dedicated to my parents for their unwavering love and prayers, and to my siblings who have been a steadfast source of support and encouragement throughout this research

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I'd like to bow my head in gratitude to Allah Almighty, for enabling me to have completed this research with His blessings.

I'd like to express my deep and sincerest gratitude to my thesis advisor, Dr. Javed Iqbal, Associate Professor, IGIS, NUST, for providing invaluable guidance. I'm thankful to him for allowing me to learn from his experience and for having confidence in me. I am extremely grateful to my parents and spouse for their love and support.

Muddassira Amin

# **Table of Contents**

ACADEMIC THESIS.DECLARATION OF AUTHORSHIP	ii
DEDICATION	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
ABSTRACT	xii
Chapter 1	1
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. Background Information	1
1.2. Status of Forest Cover at the National Level	2
1.3. Types of Forest in Pakistan	4
1.4. Rationale	5
1.5. REDD+	7
1.6. Carbon Storage Dynamics	8
1.7. Vegetation Indices	9
1.8. Impact of Climatic parameters on carbon sequestration potential	10
1.9. Climate Feedback Loops	11
1.10. Analytical Hierarchy Process	11
1.11. Objectives of the study	
1.12. Scope of Study	
Chapter 2	13
LITERATURE REVIEW	
Chapter 3	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1. Study Area	
3.2. Climate and Topography	19
3.3. Forest Types and Vegetation	21
3.4. Materials	21
3.5. Analytical Framework	22
3.5.1. Methods	22
3.5.2. Field Data Collection	
3.5.3 Calculation of biomass from Allometric Equations	27

3.5.4 Image Acquisition	28
3.5.5 Preprocessing	31
3.5.6 Deriving Vegetation Indices	32
3.5.7 Statistical Analysis	36
3.5.8 Biomass Map 3.5.9 Validation of Biomass Map	36 38
3.5.10 Total Biomass and Total Carbon	40
3.5.11 Carbon Stock	40
3.5.12 Impact of Climate Indicators on AGB via Analytical Hierarchy	41
Chapter 4	44
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	44
4.1. LULC maps	44
4.2. Estimation of Biomass from Vegetation Indices	51
4.3. Validation of Biomass Map	58
4.4. Biomass and Carbon Stock Estimation Results	58
4.5. Sensitivity Analysis to analyze the impact of climate indicators on the	
Above Ground Biomass	61
CONCLUSION	72
REFERENCES	65
APPENDICES	80
Appendix 1- Forest Inventory Data.	80
Appendix 2- Estimated AGB in Abbottabad District	81
Appendix 3- Carbon Stock Estimated in ROI.	82
Appendix 4- Land use and Land cover calculations of year 2011 and 2022	82

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Study area map of Abbottabad.

Figure 3.2. A grid plot (10'x 10') using stratified cluster sampling technique.

Fig 3.3. Cluster sample plot comprised of five sub-plots.

Figure 4.2.Land use and land cover map of Abbottabad (2011).

Figure 4.3.Land use and land cover map for Abbottabad (2022).

Figure 4.4.Pie chart displaying percentages of LULC categories for year 2011.

Figure 5.4. Pie chart displaying LULC categories -2022.

Figure 4.5. Bar Graph displaying the relative change in different Land cover and land use classes from in year 2011 and 2022.

Figure 4.4. Pie chart displaying percentages of LULC categories for year 2022.

Figure 4.5. Bar Graph displaying the relative change in different Land cover and land use classes from in year 2011 and 2022.

Figure 4.6. Map displaying forest cover for Abbottabad (2011).

Figure 4.7. Map displaying forest cover for Abbottabad (2022).

Figure 4.8. Bar graph representing change in forest area.

Figure 4.9. Map displaying the relationship between NDVI and calculated AGB.

Figure 4.10. Map displaying the relationship between EVI and calculated AGB.

Figure 4.11. Map displaying the relationship between GNDVI and calculated AGB.

Figure 4.12. Map displaying the relationship between MSI and calculated AGB.

Figure 4.13. Map displaying the relationship between NDII and calculated AGB.

Figure 4.14. Map displaying the relationship between NDWI and calculated AGB.

Figure 4.15. Map displaying the relationship between SAVI and calculated AGB.

Figure 4.16. Map displaying the relationship between SQSR and calculated AGB.

Figure 4.17. Scatter plot displaying the relationship between NDVI and AGB.

Figure 4.18. Scatter plot displaying the relationship between EVI and AGB.

Figure 4.19. Scatter plot displaying the relationship between GNDVI and AGB.

Figure 4.20. Scatter plot displaying the relationship between SQSR and AGB.

Figure 4.21. Scatter plot displaying the relationship between SAVI and AGB.

Figure 4.22. Scatter plot displaying the relationship between NDVI and AGB.

Figure 4.23. Scatter plot displaying the relationship between NDII and AGB.

Figure 4.24. Scatter plot displaying the relationship between MSI and AGB.

Figure 4.25. Sensitivity analysis map displaying biomass areas sensitive to climatic parameters.

#### LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. List of Field Equipment used in the study.

Table 3.2. Tools and Software used in study for analysis.

Table 3.3. Datasets, variables and their sources used in the study.

Table 3.4. Allometric equations used to calculate AGB for tree species in Abbottabad.

Table 3.5. Data sources used for Satellite Image Acquisition.

Table 3.6. Vegetation indices and their formulas.

Table 3.7. Pairwise comparison matrix for sensitivity analysis.

Table 4.1. Percentage and area distribution of Land use and land cover- 2011 and 2022.

Table 4.2. Statistical computation of rate of change of various LULC categories per year according to LULC maps of 2011 and 2022.

Table 4.3. Change in forest cover area from year 2011 to 2022.

Table 4.4. Statistics of Biomass and Carbon Stock Estimation.

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- ROI Region of Interest
- AGB Above Ground Biomass
- AGC Above Ground Carbon
- NDVI Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
- EVI Enhanced Vegetation Index
- SAVI Soil-Adjusted Vegetation Index
- MSAVI Modified Soil-Adjusted Vegetation Index
- NDWI Normalized Difference Water Index
- NDMI Normalized Difference Moisture Index
- GNDVI Green Normalized Difference Vegetation Index
- LT 5 TM Landsat 5 Thematic Mapper
- LT 8 OLI Landsat 8 Operational Land Imager
- LULC Land Use Land Cover
- EF Emissions Factor
- CE Carbon Emissions
- AD Activity Data

# ABSTRACT

Forest plays a vital role in regulating carbon and oxygen in ecosystem. Study aims to map the above-ground biomass (AGB), carbon pool, and carbon sequestration potential of the Abbottabad Forest area, while also analyzing the impact of climate indicators on carbon stock through sensitivity analysis. Using remote sensing techniques and geospatial analysis, we quantified the biomass and carbon content in different forest strata. The results indicate significant variations in AGB, ranging from 93.35 to 265.02 t/ha, with a mean of 178.6 t/ha, and corresponding above-ground carbon (AGC) values ranging from 43.87 to 124.56 t/ha, averaging 83.94 t/ha. Total carbon sequestration potential was also evaluated, showing a mean of 105.76 t/ha and a maximum of 156.94 t/ha, while the total CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent sequestration ranged from 202.32 to 574.41 t/ha. Additionally, the sensitivity analysis identified regions within the forest that are more susceptible to climatic changes, with some areas demonstrating high sensitivity to fluctuations in temperature and precipitation. Land use and land cover (LULC) changes were assessed, revealing significant shifts over study period, including a decrease in agricultural (-13.3%) and bare land (-0.5%) areas, and an increase in forest cover (9%). The urban and water bodies also showed slight expansions. The findings underscore the importance of targeted climate adaptation strategies to enhance carbon sequestration and improve forest resilience. Study concludes that by integrating biomass mapping with sensitivity analysis of climatic parameters, this research presents a comprehensive approach to understanding the interplay between forest dynamics and climate change, which is essential for informed decision-making and policy formulation. Study recommends to expand the application of geospatial modeling across other forest types in Pakistan to develop a comprehensive carbon inventory. Additionally, integrating these findings into local and national climate policies can enhance carbon sequestration and forest conservation efforts.

#### Chapter 1

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1. Background Information**

Enormous ecosystems that blanket substantial portions of our world. Forests are a priceless natural resource providing many means of sustenance for life. Forests are essential to preserving the harmony of our planet's ecosystem because of their thick undergrowth, tall trees, and variety of flora and fauna. As the planet's lungs, they take in carbon dioxide and the world's forest cover, endangering human societies' well-being, biodiversity, and climate stability. For the well being of current and future generations, we must acknowledge the vital value of forests and move quickly to save, protect, and restore these priceless ecosystems, which release oxygen, serve as habitat for innumerable species, and control regional climates.

Forests are critical to the earth's ecological balance, serving as home to a large proportion of the world's biodiversity. They cover about 31% of the land area globally, with the maximum forested areas found in Russia, Canada, China, United States and Brazil. These ecosystems play a vital role in carbon sequestration, acting as significant carbon sinks that absorb and store  $CO_2$  thus mitigating climate change.

Global assessments have shown that future climate change will be significantly impacted by forest ecosystems. Climate change refers to changes in global climate due to anthropogenic activities. Since industrial revolution, combustion of fossil fuels for energy and transportation has dramatically increased  $CO_2$  emissions. Deforestation further contributes to rising  $CO_2$  levels as trees that function as carbon sinks are removed. Environmental changes refer to any alterations in the biophysical environment, with ecosystems continuously undergoing both positive and negative transformations (Jackson et al., 2001). Urbanization, industrial growth, and deforestation are key drivers that impact the physical, chemical and biological aspects of the environment leading to the emission of gases in atmosphere and elevating health risks for humans. Climate variability can stem from natural processes in climate systems or from shifts in external forces, whether natural or human-induced. In recent decades, the planet has faced an unprecedented warming trend, with temperatures increasing at an average rate of  $0.128 \pm 0.026$  °C annually over the past 59 years (Solomon et al., 2007).

Pakistan is situated between  $23^{\circ} 45'$  and  $36^{\circ} 75'$  north latitude and between  $61^{\circ}$ and 75° 50' east longitude. As a subtropical country, Pakistan exhibits climatic variability that significantly influences its ecological diversity, supporting a wide range of forest types. To west of Pakistan is Iran on the east is India to north-west side is Afghanistan, on the north is China and on south is Arabian Sea. It vary due to the variation in altitude from south to north and geographically, extends from snowcapped mountains in north to deserts and the Arabian Sea in south. Indus River flows in country about 2500 kilometers and starts from Karakorum and Himalaya to Arabian Sea therefore Pakistan is known as a land of Indus River. Pakistan has three major regions. Arid plateau of Baloc histan in southwest, mountains in north and lowlands along indus in south. The most pleasant months are April through September in the northern part of country, while mid-day temperatures can exceed 40 OC in low-lying plains of the Indus Valley.Coldest months are January and February, with temperatures dropping between 10 and 25 degrees Celsius. The region receives an average annual rainfall of 76mm. In the northern areas of the lower Indus plains, rainfall varies from 13 cm in the plains to 89 cm in the Himalayan region. The monsoon typically occurs in the southern regions during late summer, while precipitation remains low in areas such as Baluchistan and the northern regions, including Gilgit-Baltistan and the northern parts of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa.

Pakistan's landscape is highly diverse, particularly in the northern regions where the Karakoram, Hindu Kush, and Himalaya ranges converge, forming some of the most varied high-altitude terrains. This area is part of one of the coldest regions on Earth, with elevations reaching 5175 meters above sea level in Himalayas (Ali et al., 2015). Despite its rich landscapes, According to estimates from the Pakistan Bureau of Statistics and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Pakistan has a minimal amount of forest cover; just 2.2%, or 4.55 million hectares under forests. Between 1990 and 2010, Pakistan's forested areas experienced significant changes, with an annual loss of 42,000 hectares, or 1.66%, leading to an overall 33.2% decline in forest cover during that period (WCMC, 2018). The forestry sector currently contributes 0.39% to the national GDP and saw a growth of 7.17% in 2018, following a decline of -2.37% in 2017, largely due to increased timber production reported in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (Government of Pakistan, 2018; National Forest Monitoring System Annual Report, 2022).

#### **1.2. Status of Forest Cover at the National Level**

Globally, forests currently cover up 31% of the terrestrial area (UN Global Forest Goals Report 2021). According to the definition of forest as per Pakistan Forest Institute, Pakistan forest cover vary between 5.1 and 5.45 percent, with an uncertainty of  $\pm$  0.8%, are the mean national forest cover estimates. In the Western Himalaya, the province of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (1.49 million ha), the administrative region of Gilgit-Baltistan (0.66 million ha), and the state of Azad Jammu and Kashmir (0.26 million ha) have around 67% of the world's forest area. Between 2013 and 2019, the afforestation area officially reported was around 123,500 hectares. Furthermore, Qamer et al. (2016) reported that the Provincial and State Forest Departments controlled approximately 57,912 km of linear plantations.

Pakistan has diverse ecological zones, divided into various forest types based on altitude and species composition. Mangrove, tropical thorn/scrub, tropical dry deciduous, sub-tropical broad-leaved evergreen, sub-tropical chirpine, moist temperate, dry temperate, sub-alpine, and alpine scrub forests are among these woods. According to forest type, riverine (4%), irrigated plantation (4%), thorn (3%), mangrove (3%) and sub-alpine forests (2%), followed by sub-tropical broadleaved scrub (19%), moist temperate (15%), Chirr Pine (13%), and dry temperate forests (36%) have the highest proportionate coverage. Between 2004 and 2012, the mean forest carbon store was calculated to be 192 million tonnes. (MOCC Pakistan, National Forest Monitoring System). Additionally, forests are crucial for sequestering carbon.

NFMS has defined forest on the national level as 'a minimum of 0.5 hectares of land with a tree crown cover percentage of above 10% that is made up of trees with a minimum height potential of two metres. This would also encompass regions that are now under irrigation and areas that have previously been classified as forests in the corresponding legal documents, provided they match the standards outlined in Pakistan's national forest definition'. National Forest Monitoring System (NFMS) aims to collect accurate and consistent data across various forested landscapes in Pakistan. This definition aligns with international standards, providing a clear framework for monitoring forest resources and guiding sustainable forest management practices. It also serves as a critical reference point for assessing deforestation, afforestation, and reforestation efforts, helping to track progress toward national and global environmental goals. The inclusion of irrigated plantations and legally defined forest areas underscores the system's comprehensive approach to encompass diverse forest types within the country.

#### **1.3.** Types of Forest in Pakistan

Forest type is defined as unit of vegetation which possess characteristics in physiognomy and structure. (Champion, 1968). These characteristics can include factors such as species composition, canopy structure, density, and the ecological functions they support. A variety of environmental factors, including climate, soil type, altitude, and disturbance regimes influence forest types. This classification is essential for forest management, conservation, and biodiversity assessments, as it identifies and differentiates forest ecosystems based on their distinct features.

Following are the forest types found in Pakistan. Alpine pastures are in the northern region of country, Hazara and Malakand division, Gilgit and Diamir districts of Gilgit Baltistan. Species include Salix, Lonicera, Berberis, Junipers and Ephedra.

Sub-alpine forests are topmost tree formation in Himalayas from 3350 m to the timber limit with open canopy and are in transition zone between temperate forests and alpine meadows. This type of forests is found in AJK, Upper Dir, Swat, Chitral, Hazara and Gilgit. Main tree species are Abies pindrow and Betula utilis with undergrowth of Viburnum and Salix etc.

Dry Temperate Forests elevation range is about 1525 m to 3350 m and in upper reaches of Kaghan Valley, Swat, Dir, Chitral, Diamir and Gilgit; Hindu Kush Range, North and South Waziristan Agencies and Zhob district of Baluchistan, monsoons doesn't occur in these forests. Main tree species are; Deodar, Chilgoza, Quercus, Kail, Juniper and Spruce. Oak forests falls in temperate zone and confined to lower reaches. The trees exceed 10 m in height. The soil in dry temperate forests are bare (except where extra edaphic supplies of moisture). Xerophytic vegetation occurs, small leaved and greyish foliage is found, predominated by aromatic shrubs such as.Artemisia, and having extensive root system. The grass is mostly small and forbs have thick taproot with a few climbers.

#### 1.4. Rationale

Forests play a crucial role in absorbing carbon dioxide through photosynthesis, thus mitigating climate change. Deforestation and forest degradation, driven by human activities, significantly increase atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> levels. Without forests, CO<sub>2</sub> accumulation would be 43% higher (Menon et al., 2007). Sustainable forest management, conservation, restoration, and afforestation can help reduce greenhouse gas emissions, while deforestation, forest fires, and fossil fuel burning contribute significantly to these emissions. Forests sequester carbon and offer various ecological, economic, and social benefits. Land use changes, including the conversion of forests to croplands, contribute about 10% of anthropogenic CO<sub>2</sub> emissions and have exacerbated climate change over the past two hundred years (Dube and Stolpe, 2016; Zhang et al., 2017). As the trees grow in the forest, they absorb carbon dioxide from the atmosphere and hence reduce the concentration of carbon dioxide in atmosphere and in soil, wood, leaves it is accumulated. Carbon will be left in the forest (Justine et al., 2015).

Climate change is caused by this global warming and as a result, natural disasters such as modification in food production, stress on water resources, and harm to human health, floods, drought, wildfires, high temperatures etc. occurs (NASA, 2016). To mitigate climate change we need to control the emissions of greenhouse gasses. One of the major roles is played by forests in lessening the emission of greenhouse gases as they store atmospheric carbon dioxide when they grow. Day to day carbon dioxide CO<sub>2</sub> mean accumulation reached 400 ppm in "Manua Loa Station in May 2013".

Between 1990 and 2015, Pakistan lost almost a million hectares of forest (FAO, 2014), or around 25% of its natural forests. The average annual rate of deforestation is projected to be 42,200 hectares (World Bank, 2015). Deforestation reduces biomass above and below ground at a rate of 2.2 percent per year, amounting to 100 million tons of  $CO_2$  e; from 330 million tons in 1990 to 213 million tons in 2010 (World Bank, 2015).

The primary causes of deforestation are population growth, grazing, changing land uses, illegal harvesting, and an increase in demand for forest products such as fuel wood, fodder, and lumber that exceeds availability (FCPF, 2013). Owing to sparse forest density, flooding, irrigation failure, soil erosion from watershed areas, Pakistan annually incurs a loss of PKR 2.3 billion (GOP and UNEP, 2019). Because conifer timber has such a high value, coniferous forest acreage has quickly shrunk. In recent decades, government forests have been moved to nonforestry and commercial uses like infrastructure, agriculture, tourism, and defense (World Bank, 2015). Because of their large carbon stock, peatlands, and prolonged maturity age, coniferous forests in Pakistan are thought to be the most significant areas for preservation (Khan et al. 2019).

Quantifying above-ground biomass (AGB) and carbon sequestration potential in the moist temperate forests of Abbottabad District is critical for climate change mitigation and sustainable forest management. This study employs a sophisticated approach by integrating remote sensing data from satellite imagery with detailed forest inventory data. The use of geospatial modeling techniques enhances the precision of biomass and carbon stock estimates by capturing spatial and temporal variations in forest structure and health. The application of the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) to evaluate different parameters affecting biomass estimation such as forest type, canopy density, and topographic features is made possible by the integration of multiple data sources. The multi-criteria decision-making method enhances the reliability of the models used to forecast carbon sequestration capability across diverse forest landscapes. The outcomes will inform sustainable practices that optimize the forests' carbon sequestration capacity, contributing to global efforts to mitigate climate change while ensuring the conservation of critical ecosystems in the Abbottabad District.

#### 1.5. REDD+

International interest in REDD+ has increased to achieve sustainable forest management and offset carbon release at a lower cost. The main goal of REDD+ is to create incentives for improving forest management forest management. According to the United Nation Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), satisfaction can be quantified in relation to national performance; however, there are concerns about how these motivators will be communicated in non-specified nations and how the benefits of REDD+ will be divided among different participants.

FRELs are the emissions that will be used to measure emission reduction under REDD+ program. United Nation Framework Convention on Climate Change has defined FREL as a benchmark for accessing country performance in implementing REDD+ activities.

As per the most recent United Nation Framework Convention on Climate Change Conference of Parties, suggested a universal administration structure for "Reducing Emissions From Deforestation and Degradation (REDD+)" and part of Sustainable forest management (SFM), conservation and increasing the carbon stock of forest in the developing countries the REDD+ eventually appear as execution based system that will give economic remuneration to deliberately taking an interest creating nations (Loft et al., 2015). The REDD+ has ability as a component for decreasing forest degradation, moderate ozone harming substance (GHG) discharges and conserve biodiversity in numerous nations (Sein et al., 2016).

Pakistan is UN-REDD partner country that started REDD+ operations in 2010. Worldwide Fund for Nature Pakistan (WWF-Pakistan), the International Centre for Integrated Mountain Development (ICIMOD), and the Climate Change Ministry launched the REDD+ Preparedness Phase for Pakistan in 2012. It has recommended REDD+ guidelines that uses ground-based carbon measurement and RS for carbon, biomass estimation, GHG emissions, and changes in forest area owing to degradation and deforestation. Forests contribute in reducing the atmospheric concentration of carbon dioxide (Alkama and Cescatti, 2016). Despite the significant contribution of forests to the global carbon cycle, they are destroyed at an accelerated rate, accounting for 12–20% of all anthropogenic carbon dioxide emissions (Collins, 2015).

Khyber Pakhtunkhwa has 66% of the nation's coniferous forests, which offer enormous potential to store carbon and lower emissions as part of the REDD+ Programme. Khyber Pakhtunkhwa has completed a thorough inventory of forest carbon and produced a sub-national REDD+ policy. The Khyber Pakhtunkhwa government has effectively finished planting one billion trees as part of a massive afforestation project, which would massively increase the province's carbon store.

Degradation and deforestation are the major cause of carbon dioxide discharge into the atmosphere. Out of the total greenhouse gasses emission due to the anthropogenic activities from degradation and deforestation, carbon emission contributes about 12%-20%. The goal of REDD+ is to mitigate climate change by reducing carbon emissions caused by degradation and deforestation in developing countries through a variety of actions.

An estimated 4.123 million tonnes of CO2 were released annually between 1992 and 2012 as a result of deforestation and forest degradation, or 2.128 million tonnes from deforestation and 1,995 million tonnes from degradation. Prior to 1992, 6.458 million tonnes of CO2 were emitted annually overall. However, it is predicted that in 2012, the annual carbon sequestered by the trees was 5.968 million tonnes.

#### **1.6. Carbon Storage Dynamics**

The processes and mechanisms by which carbon is taken in, held, and released in different ecosystems are referred to as carbon storage dynamics. Carbon Pool is a reservoir or storage area where carbon is accumulated within an ecosystem, including biomass, soil organic matter, and the atmosphere. Carbon Stock refers to the total amount of carbon stored within a specific ecosystem or ecosystem compartment. The process of absorbing and storing carbon dioxide from the atmosphere in carbon pools is known as carbon sequestration. This process is mostly carried out by plants through photosynthesis.

In 1990, the carbon stock in this Pakistan's forests was approximately 309 tons per square kilometers, but it saw a decline to 261 tons per square kilometers by 2009 due to deforestation and land-use changes. However, by 2020, the carbon stock had increased significantly to 409 tons per square kilometers because of reforestation and better forest management practices (Goheer et al. 2023)

The total amount of greenhouse gases (mostly carbon dioxide) released into the atmosphere either directly or indirectly because of human activity; this amount is typically expressed in carbon dioxide equivalents (CO2e). Since different greenhouse gases have different warming effects on the Earth's atmosphere over time,  $CO_2e$  allows for a standardized comparison. To express emissions of different greenhouse gases in a common unit, their emissions are converted to  $CO_2e$  using conversion factors.

#### **1.7. Vegetation Indices**

Indices quantify various vegetation properties, such as biomass, greenness, health, and photosynthetic activity. Unlike narrowband vegetation indices, which utilize specific narrow wavelength bands, broadband vegetation indices integrate reflectance information across wider spectral regions. Canopy Water Vegetation Indices (CWVI) are vegetation indices specifically designed to quantify the water content within plant canopies. These indices utilize spectral bands sensitive to water absorption features in the electromagnetic spectrum, typically in the shortwave infrared (SWIR) region. Water absorption features occur around wavelengths of approximately 1.4 micrometers ( $\mu$ m) and 1.9  $\mu$ m due to the presence of water molecules in plant tissues.

Khyber Pakhtunkhwa province has more than half of the nation's coniferous forests, which makes it significant for sequestering carbon. All throughout the world, three different methods—destructive, non-destructive, and remote sensing—are utilised to estimate carbon stocks. Of all the existing techniques for measuring biomass, the destructive method is the most straightforward for

determining above-ground biomass and the carbon stocks present in forest ecosystems (Gibbs et al. 2007).

Non-destructive approach of estimating biomass is suitable for ecosystems containing rare or protected tree species, where it is not practical or viable to harvest those species. Allometric equations relate easily measurable plant attributes to biomass, such as tree diameter at breast height (DBH) and height. These equations are species-specific and are derived from statistical relationships between the measured attributes and actual biomass (Nelson et al. 1999).

#### **1.8.** Impact of Climatic parameters on carbon sequestration potential

The impact of minimum and maximum temperatures on a forest's carbon sequestration potential and carbon stock is significant and can vary depending on the specific ecosystem, forest type, and regional climate conditions. Higher temperatures can enhance the rate of photosynthesis up to an optimal point. Beyond this point, extreme temperatures may reduce photosynthetic efficiency due to thermal stress, reducing carbon uptake by trees.

Both minimum and maximum temperatures influence plant respiration rates. Higher temperatures increase respiration, which can lead to a net loss of carbon if respiration exceeds photosynthetic carbon gain. Warmer nights (higher minimum temperatures) can particularly increase nighttime respiration, reducing the overall carbon sequestration potential. Also, optimal temperatures promote tree growth, enhancing biomass accumulation and carbon stock. However, extreme temperatures, especially prolonged elevated temperatures, can cause heat stress, reducing growth rates and, consequently, the carbon stored in the biomass.

In cooler climates, lower minimum temperatures can slow down soil microbial activity, allowing more organic carbon to be stored in the soil. However, this stored carbon may be released more rapidly if temperatures rise. Forests with species adapted to cooler temperatures may struggle in warmer conditions, potentially leading to species composition shifts and overall forest carbon dynamics.

#### **1.9. Climate Feedback Loops**

Changes in forest carbon sequestration due to temperature variations can feed back into the climate system. Reduced carbon sequestration capacity can contribute to higher atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels, further driving climate change and creating a cycle of warming and reduced carbon storage. Historically, the forests in the Abbottabad district have played a vital role in carbon sequestration, acting as significant carbon sinks due to their dense vegetation and diverse ecosystems. These moist temperate forests have traditionally stored substantial amounts of carbon, helping to regulate the regional climate. However, with the recent shifts in climate patterns, including temperature increases, the capacity of these forests to sequester carbon is being challenged.

In climate feedback loops, changes in the carbon sequestration capacity of these forests due to temperature variations can significantly impact the broader climate system. As temperatures rise, ability of forests and store carbon diminishes, leading to increased atmospheric  $CO_2$  levels. This further exacerbates global warming, creating a self-reinforcing warming cycle and reducing carbon storage. In the Abbottabad region, where forests have historically been resilient, the rising temperatures may begin to disrupt this balance. While temperate forests are generally more resilient to moderate temperature changes than tropical forests, continued warming could still reduce biomass and carbon storage capacity. Understanding and mitigating these impacts is crucial for sustaining the region's forest ecosystems and their role in global climate regulation.

#### **1.10. Analytical Hierarchy Process**

The Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) is used to analyze the impact of various climate indicators on Above-Ground Biomass (AGB) by structuring the problem into a hierarchy of criteria. Experts perform pairwise comparisons between climate factors like temperature and precipitation, assigning weights based on their influence on AGB. These weights are calculated through a comparison matrix, ensuring consistency in judgments. Pairwise comparisons are performed between the indicators, where experts assign weights based on their relative importance in influencing AGB. These comparisons are used to construct a pairwise comparison matrix, and the weights are derived from this matrix,

reflecting the significance of each indicator. The consistency ratio is calculated to ensure the reliability of the judgments. The final weighted scores reveal the relative impact of each climate indicator on AGB, providing a clear, systematic way to prioritize and understand how climate variables affect biomass, aiding in effective forest management decisions.

By performing a **pairwise comparison** of these indicators, we aim to assign relative importance to each and develop a clear understanding of how they contribute to the overall carbon sequestration potential of the forest. This process is critical for identifying the most sensitive areas of the forest that are vulnerable to climatic changes and may require targeted management interventions.

Additionally, AHP offers a mechanism for integrating geospatial analysis with decision-making processes, ensuring that the spatial variability of forest conditions is considered. This allows policymakers and resource managers to prioritize regions for conservation efforts based on a combination of environmental sensitivity and carbon storage capacity. By providing a structured, quantitative framework for decision-making, AHP enhances the accuracy and effectiveness of forest management strategies in response to climate change.

#### 1.11. Objectives of the study

O map above ground biomass, carbon pool and carbon sequestration potential of Abbottabad Forest area.

• To analyze the impact of climate indicators on the carbon stock of forest via sensitivity analysis.

#### 1.12. Scope of Study

The study aims to assess the biomass and carbon sequestration potential of moist temperate forests in Abbottabad. The study employs geospatial modeling techniques to estimate AGB and carbon stock across different forests and regions within district. Additionally, it examines the impact of climate variables, particularly temperature and precipitation, on carbon sequestration.

#### **Chapter 2**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

Forests in Pakistan harbors approximately 213 million tons of carbon within their living biomass. Between 2012 and 2013, the forest growth rate showed a robust increase of 6.8%. However, this growth slowed notably in 2014–2015, with a decrease of -12.45%. Subsequently, there was a significant expansion in 2015–2016, marked by a rapid growth rate of 14.31%. Despite a slight decrease to 2.37% in 2016–2017, efforts such as the Billion Tree Tsunami initiative have propelled forest growth, with the growth rate rising to 7.17% in 2017–2018. These initiatives play a crucial role in combating deforestation and fostering a healthier forest ecosystem (FFCI 2018; WCMC 2018).

Bruce et al. (1999) conducted a study on allometric regressions to improve estimates of secondary forest biomass in central Amazon. They developed regression equations for eight abundant tree species using DBH as the primary input variable. Models using DBH, height and SD inputs showed better accuracy and lower error rates.

Brown et al. (1989) estimated the above ground biomass of tropical forest via regression equations. They applied these regressions to 5300 trees in 43 sample plots from forest inventories. Forest stands with smaller trees had higher expansion factors, which decreased to a constant value as QSD increased. For undisturbed forests, the expansion factors were 1.74, 1.95 and 1.5 for moist, moist to dry and dry life zones respectively. With FAO data, it increased previous volume-derived biomass estimates by 28% to 47%. However destructive based samples remained higher compared to volume data-based estimates.

Fakuda et al. (2003) analyzed forest inventory data to assess carbon budgets in hinoki and sugi forests in Japan. They converted wood volume data to biomass carbon values for accurate carbon stock estimates. Their research sought to assess carbon stocks in all sugi and hinoki plantations using forestry information. Enabling carbon stock calculations and mapping. Volume calculations for approximately 1000 trees were conducted using Smalian's formula. Bivariate regression equations were then developed based on the calculated volume, girth at breast height (GBH), and height for various girth classes. Hinoki forests showed lower volume accumulation than sugi forests until maturity. Biomass allocation varied by forest type, with hinoki forests exhibiting higher branch biomass proportions in younger stands. Total biomass to bole biomass ratios decreased with age, stabilizing after 30 years. The average expansion factor for both forest types was 1.72 Mg per hectare. Results indicated sugi and hinoki plantations in Japan collectively stored 346 and 139 x 106 Mg of carbon, respectively. Significant carbon stocks were observed in the southwestern region of Japan in both sugi and hinoki forests.

Ullah et al. (2012) analyzed carbon reserves in Bangladesh's Tankawati natural hill forest. To quantify biomass and soil carbon stocks, they used wet oxidation and loss on ignition techniques along with a systematic sampling approach and GPS to locate sampling spots. The forest's total carbon stock was 283.80 t·ha–1, with 110.94 tons from trees, 0.50 tons from undergrowth (grass, shrubs, and herbs), 4.21 tons from litter fall, and 168.15 tons from soil (down to 1 m). This suggests that the forest has the capacity to sequester carbon dioxide by acting as a substantial carbon reservoir. The total soil organic carbon measured in the study area at five different soil depths was 168.15 tons per hectare, which is very similar to the national average for India. Research recommends combining carbon sequestration with the Kyoto Protocol CDM carbon trading scheme to maximize the potential of Bangladesh's forest sector.

Mani et al. (2007) carried out research aimed at determining the distribution of AGB in 10 one hectare plots situated in forests india. There were two linear regression equations used. Using basal area (BA, Method 1) in one case, and height and BA in another (Method 2). AGB from Method 1 ranged from 39.69 to 170.02 Mg ha–1, whereas Method 2 produced results from 73.06 to 173.10 Mg ha–1. In both inland and coastal locations, positive associations between BA and AGB were found. 42 different tree species' basic wood-specific gravities ranged from 0.47 to 0.89 g cm–3 for coastal locations and from 0.46 to 0.92 g cm–3 for inland areas based on oven-dry weight by volume. This study's AGB estimation provides a more accurate representation of biomass in tropical dry evergreen forests due to the extensive sampling conducted.

Ghosh et al. (2021) estimated above-ground biomass (AGB) in an Indian mangrove forest that is rich in carbon using multi-temporal factors gathered from Sentinel 1 and Sentinel 2 data. They used RF, XGBoost, GBM models for prediction. Data find the best technique. Based on individual date data values, analysis showed that modeling AGB produced estimates with root mean square errors (RMSE) ranging from 149.242 t/ha for XGB to 151.149 t/ha for RF. On the other hand, prediction accuracy was improved by AGB modeling using the multi-temporal picture stack's average and percentile metrics, 81.8 t/ha for XGB to 74 t/ha for RF. Additional accuracy improvement.

Ali et al. (2020) assessed the subnational carbon stock in detail, taking into account every species of forest in the province. Data were obtained from 449 sample plots using a stratified cluster sampling technique. A total of 144.71 million tons of quantified carbon stock were found, with an average of 127.66  $\pm$  9.32 tons per hectare. Out of this, 68.15 million tons (48 percent of the total) of above-ground carbon stock were estimated, with 10% coming from below-ground biomass and 1% from litter. The study highlighted that hold the highest carbon stock at 99.41 tons per hectare, followed by moist temperate forests at 85.04 tons per hectare. Sub Alpine forests were found to have above-ground carbon stocks of 34 tons per hectare. In comparison, sub tropical forest have lower above-ground carbon stocks, with values of 4.52 and 4.48 tons per hectare, respectively.

Ghaffor et al. (2019) conducted the work Assessment of tree carbon biomass in Soan valley Scrub Forest, Pakistan 2019. The researchers compared the reliability of current generic pantropical models with local counterparts. 47 plots were measured for tree biomass as part of the study carried out in the Hayat-ul-Mir Forest, and estimations produced using allometric equations. No obvious differences were observed in biomass carbon estimates between the local and pantropical models for Acacia modesta, nor among the three models for Olea ferruginea. While all models exhibited a strong fit to the data, the pantropical model incorporating biophysical variables emerged as the most robust, offering accurate biomass predictions for subtropical species. This finding underscores the potential of pantropical models in the absence of locally developed equations, ensuring reliable reporting of carbon stock in subtropical forests.

Ahmad et al. (2014) assessed carbon stock in Chir forest of Dir district, Kpk. Study utilized data on growing stock obtained from the forest inventory conducted by the respective forest departments. Stem biomass was determined based on the respective tree species volume (m3) and wood density. The total above-ground biomass for individual trees varied depending on diameter classes.20.59 kg/tree for diameters up to 10 cm, 58.041 kg/tree for diameters between 11 and 20 cm, and 197.214 kg/tree for diameters above 20 cm. Similarly, trees total biomass within the respective diameter classes was 24.71 kg, 69.649 and 236 kg. Coniferous forest in Dir exhibited carbon stock valued 129 Mg/ha with a carbon content of 8.06 Tg.

Munawar et al. (2015) undertook a study focusing on implementing measures to reduce emission in forest degradation in northern Pakistan. They developed time series analyses to track the temporal changes in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions across the Dir District. Carbon stock data considered only aboveground emissions and sequestrations. The research aimed to identify potential REDD implementation sites in forest rich districts using SPOT and MODIS data. Analysis covered forest cover changes from 2000 to 2012 and associated with CO<sub>2</sub> emissions trends. Results showed increases in NDVI of 9.7 and 11.16%, respectively. However, emission inventories like EDGAR and REAS indicated a general upward trend in CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, mainly due to human activities.

Imran et al. (2020) employed remote sensing to quantify biomass a nd carbon content of Siran Forest Division. The research was mostly carried out between 2015 and 2020. Carbon stock estimation predominantly relies on non-destructive methods, with remote sensing being a commonly adopted approach. Destructive methods are utilized solely to develop allometric equations. Recorded values for aboveground and below-ground biomass varied, with the highest recorded at 246 and 64 t/ha and lowest at 55 and 14 t/ha. Above and below ground carbon stock ranged between 116 to 26 tons per hectare and from 30 t/ha to 6.7 tons per hectare.

Ali et al. (2018) conducted a study to estimate carbon stocks within the subtropical forest of Khanpur range Haripur. They employed satellite imagery and forest inventory data to quantify both biomass and carbon stocks. NDVI emerged as the preferred model for mapping biomass distribution, while Landsat-8 imagery served for comparative analysis. The highest recorded aboveground biomass reached 246 t/ha, with below-ground biomass ranging between 14 and 64 t/ha. Above-ground carbon stocks ranged from 26 to 116 t/ha, while below-ground carbon stocks varied from 6.7 to 30 t/ha. Total carbon stock assessed amounted to 43,570.9 t. On average, biomass was 104.6 and carbon stock was 49.7 t/ha. Garanthum exhibited highest biomass at 187.3 t/ha and carbon stock 87 t/ha, Choi Forest has 148 t/ha.

Ahmad eta 1.(2018) used forest inventory techniques to examine the carbon sink of Deodar forest in Kumrat Valley located in Pakistan's Hindu Kush Himalaya region. categorized forest in 3 elevation classes (2300 - 2400 m, 2400 - 2500 m, and 2500 - 2700 m above sea level). They established nine sample plots (33\*33 m2) in each elevation class to measure carbon values in living tree biomass. Understory vegetation biomass was assessed by destructive sampling of vegetation in each subplot. The study aimed to assess carbon in different biomass components. Overall, the results revealed that the Deodar Forest stored an average of 716 t/ha. The results highlight the Kumrat valley's impressive deodar forests' capacity to store carbon.

As per Ashraf et al. (2022), the most recent national forest cover study from 2012 indicates that Pakistan's forest cover ranges from 5.45 to 5.67 percent, with an uncertainty of  $\pm 0.8\%$ . KPK province has the highest forest density in the country. TBTTP aims to bring additional 25% of the provincial area under forest cover technical profiling of the areas to be forested pose a severe challenge in afforestation efforts because of lack of proper scientific research and its potential impacts regarding plantation drive.

Dang et al.(2019) used a machine learning regression approach to quantify aboveground biomass of forest in Yok Don National Park, Vietnam.. The study estimated aboveground biomass (AGB) and ultimately 5 carbon stocks by combining field-measured biomass with Sentinel2 satellite imagery with Random Forest. The number of regression trees created using a bootstrap sample of observations (Ntree) the number of variables provided to prediction tree (Mtry) were the two input parameters that were optimized in RF. The trees were trained using two thirds of the data, and the remaining third were utilized to estimate the error using an internal cross-validation method. AGB was predicted by 132 spectral and texture factors, with an R2 value of 0.94. Utilized are remote sensing data combined with forest inventories.

Yagsi et al. (2021) carried out a GIS-based site suitability analysis for Konya, Turkey's afforestation. The criteria for analysis included land use capability (LUC), rainfall, slope, aspect, erosion. The paired comparison matrices generated were used to determine the weights of each criterion. The comparison matrix came first in the calculation of the parameter weights. All weighted layers were gathered and the resulting weights were used to create the research area map. The study's 15% most appropriate area and 25.52% suitable area were determined by the results, 28.95% was medium, 12.76% was low and 17.7 was found very low for the afforestation. After determining the areas to be afforested, 10 mostsuitable sites were displayed on website.

Natsagdorj et al. (2022) geospatial information system and a multicriteria decision-making process were used to evaluate the appropriateness of the forests in the province of Khuvsgul. MCDM of the Geographic Information System and 14 carefully chosen natural and socioeconomic characteristics were combined in the study's strategy to assess prospective forest suitability in Khuvsgul province. The findings showed that, of the Khuvsgul province's total area, roughly 24.5 percent is highly suitable, around 74.4 percent is suitable, and 1.1 percent is moderately appropriate for forest restoration. Three multicriteria decision-making techniques were compared by Rashidi et al. 2022 in order to determine which area would be best for afforestation in Iran's Ardabil province. Three layers of criteria (primary criterion and two sets of sub-criteria) were identified for the suitability. The research indicates that the utilisation of TOPSIS in conjunction with the fuzzy AHP method yields more dependable results than the AHP method alone. Making more educated decisions about afforestation in the area may be aided by the findings.

#### Chapter 3

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### 3.1. Stusy Area

Area of interest (Figure 3.1) is Abbottabad district located at 34°14'45.77"N, 73°19'1.78"E in Hazara Division at an average elevation of 1256 m. With a population of 1.3 million, it covers an area of 1967 km<sup>2</sup>. Between 1998 and 2017, growth rates were 2.5% and 4.34% for urban and rural areas (Pakistan Bureau of Statistics 2017). The average temperature is 18°C. From May to September, the hot season has an average daily hot temperature exceeding 28°C, lasting 4.4 months. June is the warmest month of the year, with an elevated temperature of 31° C and low temperature of 18°C. The cold season, which spans 2.9 months from December to March, is characterized by daily average highs below 15°C. January is the coldest month of the year in Abbottabad, with temperature between 11°C and -1°C (Weather Atlas, 2023).

#### **3.2.** Climate and Topography

According to the Pakistan Meteorological Department (2023), the average annual precipitation in Abbottabad is approximately 1262mm. The driest month is November with 28mm of precipitation and wettest month is July having 229mm of average precipitation. Elevation and moon-soon winds influence the pattern of rainfall in the region. The average rainfall reaches 1366.16mm. Average monthly rainfall varies significantly throughout the year, with the monsoon season from July to September accounting for much of the precipitation. Wettest month is usually July, with an average rainfall of over 200 mm.

Topography includes ridges, valleys, and hill shadows with erratic slopes and rugged surface configuration. The region is covered with a humid temperate forest prevalent in areas with deep soil and gentle slopes, particularly in the cool northern aspect. Situated at the foot of the Himalayas, the terrain is mountainous with an average height of 2300 m, providing a temperate environment year-round (IUCN, 2004).



Figure 3.1. Study area map of Abbottabad.

#### 3.3. Forest Types and Vegetation

Khyber Pakhtunkhwa (KPK) province is home to 40% of Pakistan's total forested land (Bukhari et al., 2012). The forested area ranges in elevation 1000 to 4000 meters in Abbottabad (Ahmad et al. 2012). Forest are vital to rural livelihoods in KPK. Most local population meets their needs for fuelwood, sawn timber, and fodder(Sajjad et al. 2015); nevertheless, since 1992, coniferous forests have been losing ground at a pace of 1.3% annually (Ahmad et al., 2012).

Abbottabad has 0.054 million hectares of forest covering 30% of the district's total area (Mahmood, 2011). The KPK Forests Department "Gallies Forest Division (GFD)" oversees the Abbottabad forests, which are referred as "Gallies Forests" (KP-FD). Most forests comprise of coniferous forests protected under two different management schemes: community forests and reserved forests. Reserved woods are governed by a forestry selection system, and certain sections within them are granted certain rights to the local populace (Khan et al., 2019). Residents own the community woods, and their ownership rights over them are comparatively more expansive than those over reserved forests (Hasan, 2007).

Most of the Abbottabad's forest cover is found in the Gilliat region; nevertheless, during the past century, changes in Galliyat's land use have resulted in a 50% loss in the territory's forest cover (Irshad and Khan, 2012). The tree density in community forests has decreased because of the severe forest clearing that has occurred in Ayyubia National Park (ANP) in Galliyat (Aumeeruddy et al., 2004). The three most common species in the study area are deodar, fir and blue pine. At the highest altitudes, fir is present, followed by deodar and kail at intermediate heights, and chir in lower altitudes (Khan, 2002).

#### **3.4.** Materials

Multiple fields measuring equipment's were used to collect forest inventory data on the field. Table 2.1 shows us various instruments used for field inventory of Above Ground Biomass estimation.

# 3.4.1. Tools and Software

For the analysis and processing of data the tools and software's used are listed in Table 2.2

#### 3.4.2. Dataset

Research was conducted by integrating following datasets. Satellite imagery from landsat 8 and 5 were downloaded from USGS. The Pakistan Meteorological Department (PMD) in Islamabad provided climate data, which included temperature, precipitation, and humidity levels. Administrative boundaries at levels 1 and 2 were represented by shapefiles (PAK\_adm1.shp and PAK\_adm2.shp), which were downloaded from GADM website (http://www.gadm.org/). Additionally, forest inventory data; DBH, tree density, tree species distribution, and terrain parameters, was accessed and downloaded the Ministry of Climate Change National Forest Monitoring (NFMS) portal. Datasets used in the research along with the sources are mentioned in Table 3.3.

# 3.5. Analytical Framework

#### 3.5.1. Methods

Study is divided into four major sections:

# **Step 1. Field Data Collection**

This step includes field data collection. Forest inventory data was collected, including Diameter and Height data of the trees in sample plots, which was then processed via allometric equations for biomass estimation.

# Step 2. Geospatial analysis of Hyperspectral Imagery

In this step preprocessing of satellite imagery is done. Then, the computation of vegetation indices is done to analyze their relationship with forest inventory data. Finally, biomass mapping is done from spectral indices of Landsat 8- OLI imagery.

# Step 3. Quantifying Carbon pool and Forest Emissions

In the third step estimation of carbon stock, carbon Sequestration potential and CO<sub>2</sub>e emissions and carbon emissions are calculated.

# **Step 4. Analyzing the impact of climate indicators via Analytical Hierarchy Process**

Sensitivity to climate indicators was analyzed using the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP), where pairwise comparisons were conducted to assign weights to each indicator, revealing their relative impact on Above-Ground Biomass (AGB). The resulting weighted scores provided a systematic evaluation of the influence of each climate factor. Step-wise procedure is explained below, and methodology of the study is displayed in Figure 2.2.

# 3.5.2. Field Data Collection

# 3.5.2.1 Forest Inventory

Field materials were prepared, and training on the field equipment was done in pre-field work, followed by field data sheet preparation to collect data. Field data was obtained from 36 sample plots for ROI in 2022 to estimate biomass and carbon stocks.

# 3.5.2.2. Win rock sampling method

The Win rock sampling method developed by Win rock International was a systematic approach employed for forest carbon measurement. The method used stratified cluster sampling to represent different forest types and conditions adequately. The forest area was divided into strata based on factors such as forest type, management practices and age. This stratification helped improve the precision of carbon stock estimates. The Win rock plot calculator helps to construct carbon stock measurement field campaigns by predicting the number of sample plots required to estimate terrestrial carbon stocks. It aimed to provide accurate and consistent estimates of forests.

Table 3.1 List of Field Equipment used in the study

Sr. No	Equipment	Utility
1	Haga Altimeter	Height measurement
2	Sunnto Clinometer	Slope and height measurement
3	DBH tape	Diameter Measurement (DBH)
4	GPS device	Navigation
5	Ranging Rods	Plot Centre and Location

Table 3.2 Tools and Software used in study for analysis

Sr.No	Software and Tools	Utility
1	ERDAS 2014, QGIS 2.8.9, ENVI	Classification, Preprocessing of Sentinel-2 Imagery
2	Arc Map 10.8.2	Vegetation Indices and Biomass mapping, AHP
3	SPSS, Microsoft Excel	Statistical Analysis
4	Win rock Sample Plot Calculator	Forest Inventory Sampling Design
5	Microsoft Word	Project Report Writing
6	Satellite Land Monitoring Systems	Design of systematic sampling

Table 3.3 Datasets, variables and their sources used in the study.

Sr. No	Data	Variables	Source
1	Satellite imagery	Landsat 5 and 8.	USGS
2	Climate Data	Temperature, Precipitation, Humidity.	PMD, Islamabad
3	Administrative Boundaries	(PAK_adm1.shp) (Pak_adm2.shp)	Global Administrative Areas http://www.gadm.org/
4	Forest Inventory Data	DBH, Tree Density, Tree Species Distribution, terrain parameters.	Ministry of Climate Change (NFMS portal)
## 3.5.2.3. Stratified cluster sampling

Figure 3.2 depicts the initial sampling, which consisted of 10'x 10' grid plots. To collect forest inventory data, sample plots were put out in the research region using the stratified cluster sampling technique. In June 2022, tree diameter and height characteristics were collected for the forest inventory. Sampling design employs a stratified two-phase sampling approach, integrating the SLMS process. In the first phase, a systematic grid of 10'x10' was generated for visual interpretation of land use and forest cover analysis. During the second phase, the 10'x10' grid was adjusted to smaller sizes of 5'x5', 2.5'x2.5', and 1.25'x1.25' to determine the number of sample plots and accessibility criteria. Stratification was based on forest types using the forest mask from 2012, and forest type boundaries developed during the pilot NFI 2018 were utilized.

The cluster sample plot as shown in Fig 3.3 comprises five sub-plots. The Primary Sub-unit (PSU) is situated at the center of the cluster, while the four Secondary Subunits (SSUs) are located at the four corners, each 200 meters apart. Each sub-plot comprises three concentric circular plots. The first sub-plot has a radius of 17.84 meters and is used for measuring all living trees and standing deadwood stems with diameter breast height (DBH) above 5 cm. Second subplot with the radius of 5.64 meters, is designated for counting seedlings and measuring shrubs. Third subplot with the radius of 0.56 meters is used for measuring above-ground non-tree biomass, litter, and soil samples. This design was adopted to maintain consistency with the previous inventory conducted by MOCC in 2020 (NFMS-MRV Report, MOCC 2020) (Nizami, 2012). Figures 3.2 and Figure 3.3 below shows the location of sample points in Abbottabad.



Figure 3.2.10'x 10' grid plots using stratified cluster sampling technique



Fig 3.3.Cluster sample plot comprised of five sub-plots

### 3.5.2.4. National Forest Inventory Protocol

The National Forest Inventory Protocol were mainly adopted from the National Forest Inventory Manual developed during phases. All carbon pools were measured during the current MRV campaign. Measurement of sample trees was carried out by following protocol. All trees with DBH-1 above 5 cm are measured from the17.84c meter radius sample plots. Species and DBH-1 (at 1.3 meters). In case of anomaly at 1.3 m the DBH was measured slightly above that point. In the case of forked tree below DBH, two trees were considered, broken top or not. Broken top trees were not selected as sample trees.

## 3.5.3 Calculation of biomass from Allometric Equations

Using data from the forest inventory, allometric equations are statistical regression models created to estimate biomass; some are specie specific (Basuki et al., 2009). The accuracy of allometric equations' biomass predictions is dependent on field-collected forest inventory data; any errors in field measurement will be reflected in the equation (Picard et al., 2012). Using allometric equations, tree volume can be calculated by putting forest inventory parameters. The data from the forest inventory is entered into the allometric formulas to determine carbon stock and biomass. According to Brown et al., (1989), an equation can be created for multiple species or for a single species, allowing biomass to be approximated globally or for a particular region. Allometric equations are different for different species, meaning they are specie specific. Table 3.4 shows the allometric equations for the species identified in the forest region taken from Pakistan Forest Institute, Peshawar.

During the fieldwork, the treelevel field data and GNSS coordinates were appro priately entered into the pre-designed field forms and tally sheets. In the event where differential devices were utilized, the GNSS coordinates were postprocessed using a differential correction method. All PSU and SSU center coordinates were adjusted using base station data in this procedure. This process corrected all PSU and SSU center coordinates with base station data, which was located at a known location. For the National Forest Inventory (NFI) in Pakistan, data processing and storage encompassed the entry of data into a database system using customized applications developed on Open Foris Collect. Validated data was uploaded into the NFMS National Forest Inventory Database. Finally, the data was exported in csv format, which was suitable for the spreadsheet software used for inventory calculation. Finally, the data was exported in csv format, which was suitable for the spreadsheet software used for inventory calculation. Finally, the data was exported in csv format, which was suitable for the spreadsheet software used for inventory calculation. Finally, the data was exported in csv format, which was suitable for the spreadsheet software used for inventory calculation. Finally, the data was exported in csv format, which was suitable for the spreadsheet software used for inventory calculation.

## 3.5.4 Image Acquisition

For a temporal evaluation of changes in land cover and use for 2011 Landsat 5 data was downloaded for September. The title used was of Landsat 5, Scene No. 150-036, which had 7 bands. For year 2022, Scene No. 150-036, Landsat-8 satellite data was downloaded for April because of more cloud cover in the month of September. Images of those months were downloaded in which the vegetation with less snow and cloud cover. The United States Geological Survey Earth Explorer website (Earthexplorer.usgs.gov) provided the remotely sensed data that was downloaded. Landsat 8 data has 11 bands and was of 30 m resolution. Details are mentioned in the table 3.5.

(KP)
2017
(KP)
(KP)
(KP)
FMS, 2020
Ē

Table 3.4 Allometric equations used to calculate above ground biomass for tree species in Abbottabad

Table 3.5.Data sources used for Satellite Image Acquisition

S.No.	Satellite	Scene No.	No. of Bands	Acquisition Date
1	Landsat 5	150-036	7	25-09-2011
2	Landsat 8 OLI	150-036	11	16-04-2022

# 3.5.4.1 Landsat 5 Thematic Mapper (TM)

The Landsat 5 Thematic Mapper (TM) has seven spectral bands in total. These bands include:

- Blue (44.52-0.52 µm)
- Red (0.63-0.69 µm)
- Green (0.52-0.60 µm)
- Near Infrared (NIR) (0.76-0.90 µm)
- Shortwave Infrared 1 (SWIR 1) (1.55-1.75 µm)
- Thermal Infrared (10.40-12.50 µm)
- Shortwave Infrared 2 (SWIR 2) (2.08-2.35 µm)

Thermal band was acquired at 120 meter resolution while all other bands had a resolution of 30 meters.

# 3.5.4.2 Operational Land Imager (OLI) and Thermal Infrared Sensor

# (TIRS)/Landsat 8

It consists of 11 spectral bands:

- 1. Ultra Blue (Band 1)
- 2. Blue (Band 2)
- 3. Green (Band 3)
- 4. Red (Band 4)
- 5. Near Infrared (NIR) (Band 5)
- 6. Shortwave Infrared 1 (SWIR 1) (Band 6)
- 7. Shortwave Infrared 2 (SWIR 2) (Band 7)
- 8. Panchromatic (Band 8)
- 9. Cirrus (Band 9)
- 10. Thermal Infrared Sensor 1 (TIRS 1) (Band 10)
- 11. Thermal Infrared Sensor 2 (TIRS 2) (Band 11)

Bands 1 and 9 are used for coastal and aerosol studies, while band 10 and 11 are thermal bands. All bands were resampled to 30m resolution.

## 3.5.5 Preprocessing

### 3.5.5.1 Radiometric Correction

Using ENVI software, radiometric correction of the optical images from Landsat 5 and 8 was carried out to enhance the image quality. Reducing the impacts of sun angle and atmosphere was the primary goal of radiometric correction (Baillarin et al., 2012). Dark Object Subtraction (DOS) was applied to convert imagery from radiance to surface reflectance using a semi-automated classification plugin the QGIS software. This approach has the benefit of being simple to use. Moreover, because it is image-based, ground truth data is not necessary (Chavez, 1996).

### 3.5.5.2 Layer stacking and Image sub-setting

Layer stacking refers to the process of combining multiple raster layers or bands from different images into a single composite image. This technique is commonly used in remote sensing and GIS to create images with merged data from different sensors or sources. Using ERDAS Imagine, layer stacking of the Landsat 5 and 8 bands was done. After that image sub-setting was done to extract region of interest from both tiles via extract by mask tool in ArcMap 10.8.2. This allows for the generation of composite images that combine data from both Landsat 5 and Landsat 8, enhancing the analysis and interpretation of the selected area.

### 3.5.5.3 Derivation of LULC map

Using a supervised imagery classification approach, satellite images were classified into six LULC classes- forest, water, bare land, vegetation, built-up area and agriculture land. The area= under study was analyzed using Maximum Likelihood Classification to determine the patterns of land use and landcover for the years 2011 and 2022. Using seed pixels, it created signature files and combined them to create a single signature for each class. In order to reduce classification anomalies that may result from similar spectral responses of objects, the maximum likelihood classification algorithm takes into account the vector average of signatures for each class by digitizing polygons on the basis of their

spectral profiles and background information. More than signature files were compiled for each land cover type. Rate of change of LULC categories per year according to LULC maps of 2011and 2022 analyzed via statistical analysis. Land use and Landcover maps for the year 2011 and 2022 were generated.

### **3.5.6 Deriving Vegetation Indices**

Vegetation indices are numerical indicators that describe various vegetation properties based on the reflectance of different wavelengths of light. In order to improve the contribution of vegetation characteristics and enable accurate geographical and temporal inter-comparisons, the spectral image transformation of two or more bands is considered. Rectified images of Landsat 8 were used to derive spectral indices by using raster calculator in arcmap. Optical images of Landsat 8 were used in this work to estimate biomass by correlating field data with biomass. Saturation and low spatial resolution issues are major challenges in estimation of above ground biomass(Lu, 2005).

For plot-wise vegetation indices derivation, coordinates of each plot was laid upon vegetation indices and values were extracted in ArcGIS software. After that linear regression analysis was applied by step-wise multi-linear regression to analyze the relationship between vegetation indices and AGB followed by extraction of pixel values for each plot. Sixteen vegetation indices were calculated for this study and in these indices only eight were selected based on their R-square and P-value performance, Root Men Square error and Standard error. VIs with high r and R<sup>2</sup>, low p value and standard error indicated the best fit for AGB modeling. From each land-use type, 75% of AGB data were randomly selected for the AGB modeling equation, whereas the remaining 25% of AGB data for validation of the mode. Two categories considered in selecting the VIs include Broadband and Canopy Water Content Indices.

## **3.5.6.1 Broadband Vegetation Indices**

Broadband vegetation indices are numerical values calculated from the spectral reflectance measurements acquired by satellite or airborne sensors over broad wavelength ranges spanning visible and near infrared part of electromagnetic spectrum. These indices are used to quantify various vegetation properties as biomass, greenness, health, and photosynthetic activity. They are sensitive to canopy leaf area so they are used for monitoring. Unlike narrowband vegetation indices which utilize specific narrow wavelength bands, broadband vegetation indices integrate reflectance information across wider spectral regions. Following broadband vegetation indices are used in this study:

### **3.5.6.1.1** Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI)

NDVI is calculated as the normalized difference between NIR and red spectral bands that measure vegetation greenness and vigour. It is the normalized ration between NIR and red bands. Equation to calculate NDVI is as below:

 $NDVI = (NIR + Red)/(NIR - Red) \dots 2.1$ 

where band 5 of Landsat 8 OLI is NIR with wavelength of  $0.85 - 0.88 \mu m$ , and red is band 4 with a wavelength of  $0.64 - 0.67 \mu m$ . Since a normalization process is used to generate the index, the range of values is 0 to 1, with even low vegetation-covered areas exhibiting a sensitive sensitivity to green vegetation.

### **3.5.6.1.2 Green Normalized Difference Vegetation Index (GNDVI)**

The green band, sensitive to variations in the amount of chlorophyll in vegetation but less susceptible to the effects of soil background, is used in the modified NDVI (Green and Dielson et al., 1996). The formula used to calculate GNDVI is:

$$GNDVI = (NIR - Green)/(NIR + Green).....2.2$$

Where NIR is band 5 of Landsat 8 OLI with wavelength range  $0.85 - 0.88 \,\mu\text{m}$  whereas band 3 is green with wavelength range of  $0.53 - 0.59 \,\mu\text{m}$ .

### 3.5.6.1.3 Soil Adjusted Vegetation Index (SAVI)

SAVI is an NDVI modification intended to reduce the impact of fluctuations in soil brightness in places with little or no plant cover. This is accomplished by adding a soil adjustment factor L. The formula used to get SAVI is:

$$SAVI = (NIR - Red)/(NIR + Red + L)(1 + L)....2.3$$

Where L is correction factor ranging from 0 to 1. A common value for L 0.5, which is typically used in areas with intermediate vegetation cover.

## 3.5.6.1.4 Enhanced Vegetation Index (EVI)

EVI is an improved version of NDVI providing a more accurate representation of vegetation canopy characteristics by doing atmospheric corrections. It is particularly used for its sensitivity to changes in vegetation cover. It is developed to address some limitations of other vegetation indices regarding saturation in dense vegetation and sensitivity to atmospheric conditions in areas with dense canopies. The formula for the Enhanced Vegetation Index is:

 $EVI = G \times (NIR - RED)/(NIR + 2.4Red + 1).....2.4$ Where NIR and Red are the the reflectance in band 5 and band 4 of Landsat 8 OLI with wavelength range of 0.85 - 0.88 µm and 0.64 - 0.67 µm. G is the gain factor set to 2.5 and value 1 is the soil adjustment factor, used to reduce soil background effects.

### 3.5.6.1.5 Moisture Soil Index (MSI)

It is a measurement of reflectance that changes in response to rising leaf water content. The degree of absorption at 1599nm increases with the amount of water that leaves in vegetation canopies contain. Since absorption at 819nm is essentially unaffected by variations in water content, it serves as the standard. Formula for MSI is.

$$MSI = (SWIR/NIR).....2.5$$

This index has a value between 0 and greater than 3. Green vegetation typically ranges from 0.4 to 2.

## 3.5.6.1.6 Square Root Simple Ratio (SQSR)

It is square root of simple ratio (Itkonen, 2012). Formula of SQSR is

$$SQSR = \sqrt{(NIR/Red)}$$
.....2.6

where NIR is spectral band 5  $0.85 - 0.88 \mu m$  and Red is spectral band 4 of wavelength 0.64 - 0.67  $\mu m$  of Landsat 8 OLI satellite imagery.

### **3.5.6.2** Canopy Water Vegetation Indices

Canopy Water Vegetation Indices (CWVI) are vegetation indices specifically designed to quantify the water content within plant canopies. If water content in canopy foliage is high, the carbon contents will also be high. These indices utilize spectral bands sensitive to water absorption features in the electromagnetic spectrum, typically in the shortwave infrared (SWIR) region. Water absorption features occur around wavelengths of approximately 1.4 micrometers ( $\mu$ m) and 1.9  $\mu$ m due to the presence of water molecules in plant tissues. The following two indices were selected in this category:

### **3.5.6.2.1** Normalized Difference Water Index (NDWI)

NDWI is commonly used to estimate canopy water content in remote sensing imagery. It is calculated using the following formula.

$$NDWI = (NIR - SWIR) / (NIR + SWIR) \dots 2.7$$

For Landsat 8 satellite data, NIR is usually around the range of 0.08 to 0.90 micrometers, while SWIR is around 1.55 to 1.75 micrometers.

The NDWI values themselves can range -1 to 1, where negative values generally indicate features like vegetation while positive indicate water. A higher positive value typically suggests a higher concentration of water.

### **3.5.6.2.2** Normalize Difference Infrared Index (NDII)

It is used to estimate water content or water stress in vegetation canopies. NDII is sensitive to canopy water whose value increase with increase in canopy water (Hunt et al., 2012). Following formula is used to calculate NDII:

$$NDII = (NIR - SWIR)/(NIR + SWIR)$$
 .....2.8

Where SWIR is the band 6 and NIR is band 5 and of OLI. For Landsat 8 satellite data, NIR is usually around the range of 0.08 to 0.90 micrometers, while SWIR is around 1.55 to 1.75 micrometers.

## **3.5.7 Statistical Analysis**

A linear regression model was employed to evaluate each VI's relationship to the AGB. SPSS and Microsoft Excel were utilized for statistical analysis. Goodness of fit was assessed using P-value, standard error,  $R^2$  (coefficient of determination), and RMSE wherein the lowest RMSE, highest r2, and P value less than 0.01 were used to identify the optimal model. Since  $R^2$  has a value ranging from -1 to +1 so it was preferred. Consequently, it is simple to comprehend how independent and dependent variables relate to one another (Ji and Peters, 2007). Indices were significant, having p-value less than 0.01. We can see that the correlation of indices with biomass is good hence we can simply say that relationship exists between biomass and spectral indices. Indices were significant, having p-value less that the correlation of indices with biomass is good hence we can simply say that relationship exists between biomass and spectral indices. Indices were significant, having p-value less than 0.01. We can see that the correlation of indices with biomass is good hence we can simply say that relationship exists between biomass and spectral indices. Indices were biomass and spectral indices along with their formulas are mentioned in the table 3.6.

### 3.5.8 Biomass Map

After selecting one vegetation index with the best performance that is NDVI, it was used to map above ground biomass via linear regression model. Two methods of biomass estimation are used. The **non-destructive method** was primarily used to estimate AGB, which is crucial for accurate carbon stock assessment without causing harm to the forest ecosystem. Remote sensing techniques, combined with field data, offer a reliable way to quantify biomass across large areas, especially when direct measurements are impractical. On the other hand, the **destructive method** was applied selectively to develop allometric equations and biomass expansion factors (BEFs), which are essential for refining biomass estimates. These allometric equations relate easily measurable variables like tree diameter and height to total biomass, providing an empirical basis for AGB calculations. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) explains how to calculate changes in carbon stocks, greenhouse gas emissions, and biomass content in forest areas using various methodologies. Typically, carbon accounts for around half of the dry biomass (Malhi et al. 2004).

# Table 3.6 Vegetation indices and their formulas

Index Name	Formula	Landsat 8	References
NDVI	(NIR – Red) / (NIR + Red)	(B5 – B4) / (B5 + B4)	(GU, 2019)
GNDVI	(NIR-Green)/(NIR+ Green)	(B5-B3)/(B5+B3)	(Gabri, 2019)
EVI	G×(NIR-RED)/(NIR+2.4Red +1)	2.5(B5 – B4) / (B5 + 2.4 B4* B4+1)	(USGS, 2019)
NDWI	(NIR – SWIR <sub>2</sub> ) / (NIR + SWIR <sub>2</sub> )	(B3 – B5) / (B3 + B5)	(Ceccato et al., 2001)
NDII	(NIR+SWIR <sub>1</sub> )/(NIR-SWIR <sub>1</sub> )	(B5-b7)/(B5+B7)	(Gao et al. 2015)
SAVI	((NIR - R) / (NIR + R + L)) * (1 + L)	((B5 – B4) / (B5+ B4 + 0.5)) * (1.5)	(USGS, 2019)
MSI	(SWIR / NIR)	(B6 / B5)	(Welikhe et al., 2017)
SQSR	√(NIR /Red)	√(B5/B4)	(Kashif et a., 2019)

## 3.5.9 Validation of Biomass Map

Validating a biomass map from ground truth data typically involves comparing the biomass estimates derived from remote sensing or other modelling techniques with actual biomass measurements collected on the ground. An accurate assessment is done by interpreting the statistical metrics RMSE, P value, and Mean Absolute Error. Factors such as measurement errors, sampling bias, spatial resolution, and temporal differences between data sources can influence the validation results. Mean Absolute Error is the average of absolute differences between ground truth and estimated biomass whereas Root Mean Square error is square root of average squared differences between ground truth and estimated biomass values. Pearson correlation coefficient measures the linear relationship between ground truth and estimated biomass values.

### 3.5.10 Above Ground Carbon (AGC)

To convert above ground biomass (AGB) to above ground carbon (AGC), carbon content within the biomass is considered. According to IPCC guidelines, the typical carbon content of above-ground biomass for forests and woody vegetation uses a default carbon conversion factor of 50% for above-ground biomass.

The formula to convert AGB to AGC is:

AGC=0.47×AGB

where:

• 0.47 = IPCC conversion factor

This formula assumes that half the dry weight of the above-ground biomass is carbon. It is an ideal condition; actual carbon content however can vary depending on factors such as plant species and growth conditions.

# **3.5.11 Below Ground Biomass**

For assessment of BGB (Below Ground Biomass), the AGB (Above Ground Biomass) is multiplied with conversion factor of 0.26 (IPCC, 2006; Ravindranath and Ostwald, 2008; Khan and Iqbal, 2019).

The formula to convert AGB to BGB is:

 $BGB = AGB \times 0.26$ 

Where:

- 0.26 = IPCC conversion factor
- AGB= Above Ground Biomass
- BGB= Below Ground Biomass

# 3.5.12 Below Ground Carbon

Similarly, BGC (Below Ground Carbon Stocks) is obtained by multiplying AGC (Above Ground Carbon) with conversion factor of 0.26 (IPCC, 2006; Ravindranath and Ostwald, 2008; Khan and Iqbal, 2019).

The formula to convert AGC to BGC is:

 $BGC = AGC \times 0.26$ 

Where:

- 0.26 = IPCC conversion factor
- AGC= Above Ground Carbon
- BGC= Below Ground Carbon

Conversion factor 0.26 is according to the method mentioned by Ostwald and Ravindranath in the Handbook for Greenhouse Gas Inventory; book named Carbon Inventory methods as per guidelines mentioned by IPCC on BGC conversion factors.

# 3.5.13 Total Biomass and Total Carbon

Total biomass is calculated by the sum of AGB (Above Ground Biomass) and BGB (Below Ground Biomass) whereas total carbon is calculated by the sum of AGC (Above Ground Carbon) and BGC (Below Ground Carbon).

## 3.5.14 Carbon Stock

Calculating carbon sequestration in a forest from above ground biomass involves estimating the amount of carbon stored in the trees based on their biomass. The formula for calculating carbon stock stored in AGB is

## C=AGB×CF

Where,

- C = Carbon Stock
- AGB = Above Ground Biomass
- CF = Conversion Fraction of Above Ground Biomass (0.47)

The carbon fraction represents the portion of biomass that is carbon. This fraction is typically around 0.5 for most tree species, meaning that approximately half of the biomass is carbon. Unit is metric tons.

# 3.5.15 Carbon dioxide Equivalent

Since different greenhouse gases have different warming effects on the Earth's atmosphere over time,  $CO_2e$  allows for a standardized comparison. To express emissions of different greenhouse gases in a common unit, their emissions are converted to  $CO_2e$  using conversion factors.

Here Carbon is converted to CO<sub>2</sub>e by multiplying total carbon stock (biomass) with 3.66 while the 3.66 is ratio of molecular mass to atomic mass of carbon.

 $CO_2 e = C \times 3.66$ 

Where,

- CO<sub>2</sub>e = Carbon dioxide equivalent
- C = Carbon Stock
- 3.66 =Conversion factor for CO<sub>2</sub> e by IPCC

## 3.5.16 Impact of Climate Indicators on Above Ground Biomass via

## **Analytical Hierarchy process**

# 3.5.16.1 Data Collection and Data Cleaning

The temperature (minimum and maximum) and precipitation data for the Abbottabad district were obtained from the Pakistan Meteorological Department (PMD). These data sets included historical records necessary for analyzing the impact of climate indicators on the carbon stock of the forest area. The acquired climate data were thoroughly cleaned to remove any anomalies, such as missing values or outliers. This process involved cross-referencing the data with other sources to ensure accuracy and consistency, as well as applying statistical techniques to address any gaps or inconsistencies in the dataset.

# **3.5.16.2** Data Interpolation and generation of criterion map layers

To generate continuous surface data for the entire Abbottabad region, the collected temperature and precipitation data were interpolated using the Inverse Distance Weighting (IDW) method. This technique allowed for the estimation of climate variables at unsampled locations, providing a comprehensive spatial representation of the climate indicators. It assumes that points closer to each other are more similar than those farther apart. IDW operates on the principle that the interpolated value at any unsampled location is a weighted average of the values at surrounding known points. The weights assigned to each known point are inversely proportional to the distance from the unsampled point. This means that

closer points will have a higher influence on the estimated value than farther points. After interpolation, the resulting raster layers were extracted using a mask that delineated the boundaries of the Abbottabad Forest area. This step ensured that all analyses were confined to the specific study area, facilitating a more accurate assessment of the impact of climate indicators on carbon stock.

### 3.5.16.3 Sensitivity Analysis via AHP

Finally, a sensitivity analysis was conducted using the Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) to evaluate the relative impact of each climate indicator on the carbon stock. The AHP methodology involved structuring the problem into a hierarchy, performing pairwise comparisons, and calculating the weights of each climate indicator based on their influence on carbon sequestration and above-ground biomass in the Abbottabad Forest area.

To assign weights to precipitation, maximum temperature, minimum temperature, and biomass in the AHP analysis, criteria were defined as Precipitation, Maximum Temperature, Minimum Temperature, and Biomass. A pairwise comparison matrix (Table 3.7) was constructed with the following values: Precipitation was assigned a weight of 3 compared to both Maximum and Minimum Temperature, and a weight of 5 compared to Biomass, indicating its higher importance. Maximum Temperature was assigned a weight of 1 compared to Minimum Temperature and a weight of 2 compared to Biomass. Minimum Temperature was assigned a weight of 1/2 compared to Biomass. Biomass was considered the least important relative to the other criteria. The normalized matrix was used to calculate the final weights for each criterion. Precipitation received the highest weight, followed by Maximum Temperature, Minimum Temperature, and Biomass. The consistency ratio was computed to ensure the judgments were reliable, with a CR below 0.02 indicating acceptable consistency. The results indicated that Precipitation had the highest influence on biomass, followed by Maximum Temperature, Minimum Temperature, and Biomass.

Criteria	Precipitation	Max Temp	Min Temp	Biomass
Precipitation	1	5	7	9
Maximum Temperature	1/5	1	3	7
Minimum Temperature	1/7	1/3	1	5
Biomass	1/9	1/7	1/5	1

# Table 3.7: Pairwise comparison matrix for sensitivity analysis

### Chapter 4

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

### 4.1 LULC maps

Classification of Landsat satellite images of the year 2011 (Landsat-5) and 2022 (Landsat 8) was done using method of supervised classification in Arc map 10.8.2. Classes include forest, water, barren land, settlement, vegetation, and agricultural land. Figures 4.1 and 4.2 show LULC maps for the year 2011 and 2022. In 2011, the area covered by agriculture was 25,386.82 hectares, constituting 14% of the total area. By 2022, this had decreased to 13,779.55 hectares, representing 0.7% of the total area. This indicates a reduction of 11,607.28 hectares, marking a -13.3% change. In 2011, bare land covered 16,171.82 hectares, accounting for 0.8% of the total area. By 2022, the area had decreased to 6,168.79 hectares, making up 0.3% of the total area. This reflects a decrease of 10,003.04 hectares, corresponding to a -0.5% change. Forest areas increased from 28,475.37 hectares in 2011, which was 15% of the total area, to 44,872.17 hectares in 2022, covering 24% of the total area. This represents an increase of 16,396.80 hectares, a 9% change. The urban area expanded from 6,705.03 hectares in 2011 (0.6% of the total area) to 11,226.30 hectares in 2022 (0.6% of the total area), indicating an increase of 4,521.26 hectares, which is a 0.3% change. Vegetation decreased from 99,631.81 hectares in 2011, which was 55% of the total area, to 96,626.94 hectares in 2022, representing 53% of the total area. This shows a decrease of 3,006.86 hectares, a -2% change. Water bodies expanded from 3,796.71 hectares in 2011, accounting for 0.2% of the total area, to 7,496.16 hectares in 2022, which is 0.4% of the total area. This indicates an increase of 3,699.45 hectares, a 0.2% change. Statistical interpretation of land use and land cover changes over the course of 11 years is represented by table 4.1. Negative signs in the data indicate a decreasing trend in the respective LULC classes. Comparative analysis and net change in land use change patterns is represented by the bar graphs as shown in figure 4.2. To know forest cover change and how much area has been gained by forest cover, forest area was calculated separately for both years forest cover maps were created as shown in figure 4.3 and 4.4. A gradual increase in trend after 2014 is due to the massive afforestation project of the government of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa named the Billion Tree Tsunami through planting and natural regeneration, to restore the province's depleted forests and combat the effects of climate change. Results show a continuously increasing trend in vegetation and built-up areas, whereas the category other land showed a decreasing trend. A gradual increase in trend after 2014 is due to the massive afforestation project of the government of Khyber Pakhtunkhwa named the Billion Tree Tsunami through planting and natural regeneration, to restore the province's depleted forests and combat the effects of climate change. Results show a continuously increasing trend in vegetation and built-up areas, whereas the category other land showed a decreasing trend.

The pie charts in figures 4.3 and 4.4 depict the land use and land cover (LULC) distribution for 2011 and 2022. 2011 agriculture covered 14% of the total area, while bareland accounted for 0.8%. Forests made up 15%, and urban areas constituted 3% of the land. Vegetation was the largest category, covering 55%, and water bodies represented 0.2%. By 2022, there were significant changes. The agricultural area decreased to 7%, and bareland reduced to 0.3%. Forest areas saw a notable increase, rising to 24% of the total area. Urban areas expanded to 6%. Vegetation remained stable, making up 53% of the land, while water bodies doubled their percentage to 0.4%. Table 4.2 illustrates a significant reduction in agricultural and bareland areas, substantial growth in forest and urban areas, and a slight increase in vegetation and water bodies over the 11-year period.

Table 4.2 represents change in forest cover area from year 2011 to 2022. Area increased from 28475.37 ha to 44872.17 ha with a net increase of 16396.80 ha. Forest cover covered 15% of the area of district in 2011 but with 9% increase over the span of 11 years it increased to 24% of the land cover vof the forest by year 2022 under the massive afforestation efforts by the government of Khyber Pakhtunkhawa subsequently leading to enhanced carbon stock and carbon sequestration potential of the forest region. These results are comparable those recorded by Ali *et al.* (2015) when assessing the land-use pattern in District Abbottabad using GIS and RS. Similar observations were made by Ali et al. (2017) while estimating carbon stock for the Moist temperate forest of KPK.



Figure 4.1. Land use and land cover map of Abbottabad district (2011)



Figure 4.2.Land use and land cover map for Abbottabad (2022)

LULC	Area (ha)-	Percentage-	Area (ha)-	Percentage-
Class	2011	2011	2022	2022
Agriculture	25386.82	14	13779.55	0.7
Bareland	16171.82	0.8	6168.79	0.3
Forest	28475.37	15	44872.17	24
Urban	6705.03	0.3	11226.30	0.6
Vegetation	99633.81	55	96626.94	53
Water	3796.71	0.2	7496.16	0.4
Total Area	180169.57		180169.91	

Table 4.1. Percentage and area wise distribution of Land cover and land use classes of 2011 and 2022



Figure 4.3. Pie chart displaying percentages of LULC for year 2011 and 2022

Table 4.2. Statistical computation of rate of change of various LULC categorie	S
per year according to LULC maps of 2000 and 2015	

LULC Change	Area Change (ha)	Percentage change
Agriculture	-11607.28	-13.3
Bareland	-10003.04	-0.5
Forest	16396.80	9
Urban	4521.26	0.3
Vegetation	-3006.86	-2
Water	3699.45	0.2
Total Area	180169.91	



Figure 4.5.Bar Graph displaying the relative change in different Land cover and land use classes from in year 2011 and 2022 (%)



Figure 4.6.Map displaying forest cover for Abbottabad (2011)



Figure 4.6. Map displaying forest cover for Abbottabad (2022)

Table 4.3. Change in forest cover area from 2011 to 2022

Forest	2011	2022	Net change
Area (ha)	28475.37	44872.17	16396.80
Percentage	15%	24%	9%



Figure 4.8. Bar graph representing change in forest area

### **4.2 Estimation of Biomass from Vegetation Indices**

Coordinates of each plot were laid upon different VI images and values were extracted by using a tool that extracts by point values in ArcGIS software to derive all eight vegetation indices. Multi-linear regression then analyzed the relationship between Above Ground Biomass and vegetation indices, followed by extraction of pixel values for each plot of different indices. Multi-linear regression then analyzed the relationship between Above Ground Biomass and vegetation indices, followed by extraction of pixel values for each plot of different indices. Multi-linear regression then analyzed the relationship between Above Ground Biomass and vegetation indices, followed by extraction of pixel values for each plot of different indices. Out of sixteen vegetation indices calculated for this study and only eight selected with high r and  $R^2$ , low p value and standard error. Figure 4 shows the vegetation index map for NDVI. The scatter plot displays the relationship between calculated AGB and NDVI. From the plot, it is observed that as the value of X increases, the value of Y also tends to increase. The upward slope of the trend line illustrates this positive correlation. The data points, while scattered, generally align with this trend, indicating a moderate to strong positive relationship between the two variables.

Two categories considered in selecting the VIs include Broadband and Canopy Water Content Indices. From the plot, it is observed that as the value of X increases, the value of Y also tends to increase. The upward slope of the trend line illustrates this positive correlation. The data points, while scattered, generally align with this trend, indicating a moderate to strong positive relationship between the two variables.

NDVI was the best fit for AGB modeling. From each land-use type, 75% of AGB data were randomly selected for the AGB modeling equation, whereas the remaining 25% of AGB data for validation of the mode. Two categories considered in selecting the VIs include Broadband and Canopy Water Content Indices.



Figure 4.9.Map displaying the relationship between NDVI and calculated AGB



Figure 4.10.Map displaying the relationship between EVI and calculated AGB



Figure 4.11.Map displaying the relationship between GNDVI and calculated AGB



Figure 4.12. Map showing the relationship between MSI and calculated AGB



Figure 4.13. Map showing the relationship between NDII and calculated AGB



Figure 4.14. Map showing the relationship between NDWI and calculated AGB



Figure 4.15. Map showing the relationship between SAVI and calculated AGB



Figure 4.16. Map showing the relationship between SQSR and calculated AGB



Scatter plots displaying the relationship between Broadband VIs and AGB





Figure 4.18.Scatter plot showing the relationship between EVI and AGB



Figure 4.19.Scatter plot showing the relationship between GNDVI and AGB



Figure 4.20.Scatter plot showing the relationship between SQSR and AGB



Figure 4.21.Scatter plot showing the relationship between SAVI and AGB



Figure 4.22.Scatter plot showing the relationship between NDVI and AGB



Figure 4.23.Scatter plot showing the relationship between NDII and AGB



Figure 4.24.Scatter plot showing the relationship between MSI and AGB

### 4.3 Validation of Biomass Map

The validation of the biomass map, based on the given metrics, demonstrates strong accuracy and reliability. The Root Mean Square Error (RMSE) is 31.26, indicating a relatively low average deviation between observed and predicted values. The Mean Absolute Error (MAE) is 0.29, further confirming minimal discrepancies. The R-squared value of 0.8 signifies a near to perfect correlation between the observed and predicted data, suggesting that the model explains 100% of the variance in biomass. Additionally, the p-value is less than 0.01, highlighting that the results are statistically significant and unlikely to have occurred by chance. These metrics collectively confirm the high precision and validity of the biomass map.

### 4.4 Biomass and Carbon Stock Estimation Results

For Above-Ground Biomass (AGB), the minimum value recorded was 93.35 t/ha, while the maximum was 265.02 t/ha. The total AGB summed up to 5893.63 t/ha, with an average (mean) of 178.60 t/ha. The standard deviation was 44.12, indicating variability in the data, and the standard error was 7.68. Above-Ground Carbon (AGC) 's minimum value was 43.87 t/ha and the maximum was 124.56 t/ha. The total AGC was 2770.01 t/ha, with a mean value of 83.04 t/ha. The standard deviation was 20.74, and the standard error was 3.61. For Below-Ground Biomass (BGB), the minimum recorded was 24.27 t/ha and the maximum was 68.90 t/ha. The sum of BGB amounted to 1532.35 t/ha, with an average value of 46.43 t/ha. The standard deviation was 11.47, and the standard error was 2.00. Below-ground carbon (BGC) had a minimum value of 11.41 t/ha and a maximum of 32.38 t/ha. The total BGC was 720.20 t/ha, with a 21.82 t/ha mean. The standard deviation was 5.39, and the standard error was 0.94. Total Biomass's minimum value was 117.61 t/ha and the maximum was 333.92 t/ha. The sum of the total biomass was 7425.98 t/ha, with an average of 225.03 t/ha. The standard deviation was 55.59, and the standard error was 9.68. Total Carbon had a minimum of 55.28 t/ha and a maximum of 156.94 t/ha. The total carbon summed up to 3490.21 t/ha, with a mean value of 105.76 t/ha. The standard deviation was 26.13, and the standard error was 4.55. For  $CO_2$  e, the minimum value was 202.32 t/ha and the maximum was 574.41 t/ha. The total CO<sub>2</sub>e was 12774.18 t/ha, with an average of 387.10 t/ha. The standard deviation was 95.63, and the standard error was 16.65. All the results are summarized in Table 4.4.

Results are comparable with the estimates mentioned by Moazzam et al. 2022 study. The average biomass  $(t\cdot ha-1)$  was 237 in Ghora gali site and 186  $t\cdot ha-1$  in Lehterar site. However, on average, both the forests have  $114.5\pm 2.26 t\cdot ha-1$  of carbon stock which comprises 92% in tree biomass and only 8% in the topsoils. Brown and Lugo (1984) estimated that the tropical forests of Bangladesh hold approximately 55–90  $t\cdot ha-1$  of carbon in forest ecosystems.

In a study conducted by Sharma et al. (2018) on above-ground biomass and carbon stock estimation in the temperate forests of the Western Himalayas, the researchers utilized remote sensing and field inventory data to assess biomass variability across different forest types. The results indicated an average above-ground biomass (AGB) of 190.5 tons per hectare, with corresponding carbon stock averaging 90.3 tons per hectare. They found that forests at higher elevations with cooler temperatures and moderate rainfall had higher AGB and carbon sequestration capacity. Moreover, minimal land-use change areas retained more biomass, highlighting the importance of preserving forest cover in mitigating climate change.

Similarly, Ahmed et al. (2020) evaluated the carbon sequestration potential of forests in northern Pakistan using satellite data and field surveys. The study reported an average AGB of 165.7 tons per hectare, with an associated carbon stock of 78.6 tons per hectare. The total carbon sequestration potential of the study area was estimated at 5,600 metric tons. The findings also revealed that forests in regions with stable precipitation and cooler climates had higher carbon sequestration rates, while areas with greater temperature variability showed reduced biomass accumulation. The authors emphasized the need for targeted conservation policies to enhance the carbon storage potential of these forests. he findings also revealed that forests in regions with stable precipitation and cooler climates had higher carbon sequestration. The authors emphasized the need for targeted that forests in regions with stable precipitation and cooler climates had higher carbon sequestration rates, while areas with greater temperature variability showed reduced biomass accumulation. The authors emphasized the need for targeted temperature variability showed reduced biomass accumulation. The authors emphasized the need for targeted conservation policies to enhance the carbon storage potential of these forests.



Figure 4.26: Estimated Biomass Map for Abbottabad

Table 4.4. Statistics of Biomass	and Carbon Stock Estimation
----------------------------------	-----------------------------

	AGB(t/ha)	AGC(t/ha)	BGB(t/ha)	BGC(t/ha)	Total	Total	CO <sub>2</sub> e
Statistics	(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		202(0110)	200(0,110)	Biomass(t/ha)	Carbon(t/ha)	(t/ha)
Minimum	93.35	43.87	24.27	11.41	117.61	55.28	202.32
Maximum	265.02	124.56	68.9	32.38	333.92	156.94	574.41
Mean	5893.63	2770.01	1532.35	720.2	7425.98	3490.21	12774.18
Sum	178.6	83.94	46.43	21.82	225.03	105.76	387.1
St. Dev	44.12	20.74	11.47	5.39	55.59	26.13	95.63
St. Error	7.68	3.61	2	0.94	9.68	4.55	16.65
### 4.6 Sensitivity Analysis to analyze the impact of climate indicators on the

#### **Above Ground Biomass**

The climate data layers for annual average precipitation, average minimum temperature, and average maximum temperature were prepared using the Inverse Distance Weighting (IDW) interpolation method, and corresponding maps were generated to visualize these parameters across the study area. These maps were then integrated into an Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP) to create a sensitivity analysis map, identifying biomass areas most sensitive to climatic parameters.

The **annual average precipitation map** as shown in figure illustrates spatial variations in precipitation across the study area, ranging from 1266 mm to 1655 mm. The central region experiences moderate rainfall, while the eastern and southwestern parts receive higher amounts, as darker blue shades indicate.

The **average minimum temperature map** as shown in figure depicts the spatial distribution of minimum temperatures, which range from 7.65°C to -1.03°C. Warmer minimum temperatures (in red and orange) are predominant in the central and southern areas, while cooler temperatures (in green and blue) are confined to the northern regions, indicating potential frost risks.

The **average maximum temperature map** as shown in figure shows variations in maximum temperatures, ranging from 34°C to 41°C. The highest temperatures (in red) are recorded in the central and southern parts, whereas the northern regions have relatively lower maximum temperatures, as denoted by yellow and blue hues.

The **sensitivity analysis map** as shown in figure 4.25 offers a detailed assessment of how various regions within the study area respond to changes in key climatic parameters such as precipitation, minimum temperature, and maximum temperature. Created using the Analytical Hierarchy Process (AHP), this map integrates the three climate data layers, each contributing differently to the overall sensitivity of biomass in the region. The sensitivity levels are categorized on a scale from low (1) to high (5), represented by a gradient from green (low sensitivity) to red (high sensitivity).

Areas marked in red on the map indicate regions with high sensitivity, suggesting that biomass in these areas is more susceptible to changes in climatic conditions. These zones may face significant biomass variability due to fluctuations in temperature or precipitation, requiring more adaptive management practices. The presence of high sensitivity in the central and southern parts of the study area, as shown by red and orange colors, could be attributed to the combined effect of high maximum temperatures and moderate to high precipitation levels. These conditions may create a delicate balance where even slight climatic changes could significantly impact biomass production.

Conversely, areas in green represent regions with low sensitivity, where biomass is less affected by climatic changes. These regions, typically located in the northern and northeastern parts, may benefit from more stable climate conditions with less extreme variations in temperature and precipitation, resulting in more consistent biomass levels.

The sensitivity analysis highlights critical zones that require focused attention for climate adaptation measures. High-sensitivity areas may benefit from strategies such as improved water management, drought-resistant crop varieties, or enhanced soil conservation practices. Meanwhile, low-sensitivity areas might serve as relatively stable regions for sustainable biomass production under current climatic conditions.

By understanding these spatial variations in sensitivity, policymakers and resource managers can make more informed decisions, directing resources and interventions to the areas most at risk from climate variability and ensuring more resilient agricultural and ecological systems.







Figure 4.27. Sensitivity analysis maps showing biomass areas sensitive to climatic parameters.

#### Conclusion

The research on "Assessment of Above-Ground Biomass and Carbon Sequestration Potential in the Moist Temperate Forests of Abbottabad District" concludes that geospatial modeling and remote sensing techniques are effective in quantifying biomass and carbon sequestration potential. The study highlights a significant positive impact of afforestation efforts, with a 9% increase in forest cover in the study area. Analysis of carbon pools revealed an average contribution of 105.76 tons of carbon per hectare in 2022, with a total carbon stock of 4,745.68 metric tons for the region of interest. The forest in Abbottabad also demonstrated its importance in carbon dynamics, acting as a source of 2.2 metric tons/ha CO2 equivalent over the period of 2011-2022, compared to its carbon sequestration potential of 0.6 metric tons/ha.

Additionally, sensitivity analysis showed that forests at higher altitudes, with lower temperatures and moderate rainfall, are less vulnerable to climatic changes compared to other areas. These findings emphasize the role of such forests in mitigating climate change and underscore the importance of targeted climate adaptation strategies to enhance carbon sequestration and improve forest resilience. afforestation efforts have positively impacted forest cover, with a 9% increase, and that forests in the region play a significant role in carbon dynamics. The total carbon stock was estimated at 4,745.68 metric tons, with an average contribution of 105.76 tons per hectare. The sensitivity analysis revealed that areas with high altitude, low temperature, and moderate rainfall are less vulnerable to climatic changes, while central and southern areas, marked in red, showed high sensitivity to temperature and precipitation fluctuations. These highsensitivity zones may experience significant biomass variability, requiring adaptive management strategies such as improved water management and drought-resistant crops. Conversely, areas marked in green showed lower sensitivity, benefiting from more stable climate conditions and consistent biomass levels. The research recommends expanding the use of geospatial modeling to other forest types in Pakistan to build a comprehensive carbon inventory. Integrating these results into climate policies can further support forest conservation and carbon sequestration efforts at both local and national levels.

64

#### References

- Ahmad, A., Amir, M., Mannan, A., Saeed, S., Shah, S., Ullah, S., and Liu, Q. (2018). The carbon sinks and mitigation potential of deodar (Cedrus deodara) forest ecosystem at different altitude in Kumrat Valley, Pakistan. *Open Journal of Forestry*, 8(04), 553.
- Ali, A., Ashraf, M. I., Gulzar, S., and Akmal, M. (2020). Estimation of forest carbon stocks in temperate and subtropical mountain systems of Pakistan: implications for REDD+ and climate change mitigation. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 192, 1-13.
- Ali, A., Ayaz, M., and Muhammad, S. (2017). A study of stand structure of temperate forests of Kaghan valley, Mansehra, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. *Pak. Journa of Foresty*, 67, 1-15.
- Ali, A., Ullah, S., Bushra, S., Ahmad, N., Ali, A., and Khan, M. A. (2018). Quantifying forest carbon stocks by integrating satellite images and forest inventory data. *Austrian Journal of Forest Science*. 135(2).
- Ali, S., Rahman, Z., KHAN, S., KHAN, T., ALI, W., and IQBAL, A. (2017). Assessment of land use pattern in district Abbottabad through geographic information system and remote sensing. *Biologia*, 63(1), 87-96.
- Aumeeruddy, T. Y., and Shinwari, Z. K. (2010). Ayaz., A., Khan, AA, 2004. Ethnobotany and management of fodder and fuelwood at Ayubia National Park, Northwest Frontier Province, Pakistan (People and plants working paper). *International Plants Conservation Unit*, WWF-UK.
- Adnan Ahmad, A. A., Mirza, S. N., and Nizami, S. M. (2014). Assessment of biomass and carbon stocks in coniferous forest of Dir Kohistan, KPK. Pak. J. Agri. Sci., Vol. 51(2), 345-350.
- 8. Brown, S., Gillespie, A. J., and Lugo, A. E. (1989). Biomass estimation methods for tropical forests with applications to Forest inventory data. *Forest Science*, *35*(4), 881-902.
- Chen, D., Deng, X., Jin, G., Samie, A., and Li, Z. (2017). Land-use-change induced dynamics of carbon stocks of the terrestrial ecosystem in Pakistan. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth. 101*, 13-20.

- Cihlar, J. (2000). Land cover mapping of large areas from satellites: status and research priorities. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 21(6-7), 1093-1114
- 11. Duveiller, G., Defourny, P., Desclée, B., and Mayaux, P. (2008). Deforestation in Central Africa: Estimates at regional, national and landscape levels by advanced processing of systematically-distributed Landsat extracts. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 112(5), 1969-1981.
- 12. Duveiller, G., Defourny, P., Desclée, B., and Mayaux, P. (2008). Deforestation in Central Africa: Estimates at regional, national and landscape levels by advanced processing of systematically-distributed Landsat extracts. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 112(5), 1969-1981.
- Fukuda, M., Iehara, T., and Matsumoto, M. (2003). Carbon stock estimates for sugi and hinoki forests in Japan. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 184(1-3), 1-16
- Ghosh, S. M., Behera, M. D., Jagadish, B., Das, A. K., and Mishra, D. R. (2021). A novel approach for estimation of aboveground biomass of a carbon-rich mangrove site in India. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 292, 112816
- Gibbs, H. K., Brown, S., Niles, J. O., and Foley, J. A. (2007). Monitoring and estimating tropical forest carbon stocks: making REDD a reality. *Environmental Research Letters*, 2(4), 045023.
- Gilani, H., Murthy, M., Bajracharya, B., Karky, B., Koju, U. A., Joshi, G., and Sohail, M. (2015). Assessment of change in forest cover and biomass using geospatial techniques to support REDD+ activities in Nepal. *ICIMOD Working Paper*, 2015/5.
- 17. Glenn, E. P., Huete, A. R., Nagler, P. L., and Nelson, S. G. (2008). Relationship between remotely-sensed vegetation indices, canopy attributes and plant physiological processes: What vegetation indices can and cannot tell us about the landscape. *Sensors*, 8(4), 2136-2160.
- Gyampoh, B. A., Amisah, S., Idinoba, M., and Nkem, J. (2009). Using traditional knowledge to cope with climate change in rural Ghana. *Unasylva*, 60(281/232), 70-74.

- Hasan, L. (2007). An anatomy of state failures in forest management in Pakistan. *The Pakistan Development Review*, 1189-1203.
- Hayat, W., Ahmad, S., Hussain, I., Zhang, Y., Fazal, S., and Khan, S. (2019). Analysis of the People–Forests Relationship in Lower Galliyat, Abbottabad Pakistan. *Small-Scale Forestry*, 18, 235-253.
- 21. Imran, A. B., and Ahmed, S. (2018). Potential of Landsat-8 spectral indices to estimate forest biomass. *International Journal of Human Capital in Urban Management*, 2018, Vol 3, Issue 4, 303
- 22. Irshad, S., and Khan, S. Impacts of Protection on Floral Diversity of Himalayan Moist Temperate Forests of Galyat, Pakistan. *Journal of Environment* (2012), Vol. 01, Issue 04, 119- 125.
- Jackson, J. B., Kirby, M. X., Berger, W. H., Bjorndal, K. A., Botsford, L. W., Bourque, B. J., and Warner, R. R. (2001). Historical overfishing and the recent collapse of coastal ecosystems. *Science*, 293(5530), 629-637.
- Kenzo, T., Furutani, R., Hattori, D., Kendawang, J. J., Tanaka, S., Sakurai, K., and Ninomiya, I. (2009). Allometric equations for accurate estimation of above-ground biomass in logged-over tropical rainforests in Sarawak, Malaysia. *Journal of Forest Research*, 14, 365-372.
- 25. Khan, I. A., Khan, W. R., Ali, A., and Nazre, M. (2021). Assessment of above-ground biomass in pakistan forest ecosystem's carbon pool: A review. *Forests*, 12(5), 586.
- Kundu, S., Khare, D., and Mondal, A. (2017). Landuse change impact on sub-watersheds prioritization by analytical hierarchy process (AHP). *Ecological Informatics*, 42, 100-113.
- 27. Lund, H. G. (2006). Definitions of forest, deforestation, afforestation, and reforestation. Gainesville, VA: Forest Information Services.
- Mahmood, T. (2011). GIS/RS: A tool for forest cover change assessment in district Abbottabad (Khyber Pakhtunkhwa) Pakistan. *The Pakistan Journal of Forestry*, 2, 61-66.
- Mani, S., and Parthasarathy, N. (2007). Above-ground biomass estimation in ten tropical dry evergreen forest sites of peninsular India. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *31*(5), 284-290.

- 30. Naeem, S., Ghauri, B., Shahzad, A., and Shaukat, S. S. (2017). Estimation of aboveground forest biomass using geospatial techniques in Murree and Abbottabad areas, Pakistan. *Int. Journal. Biol. Biotechnol*, 14, 203-213.
- Nelson, B. W., Mesquita, R., Pereira, J. L., De Souza, S. G. A., Batista, G. T., and Couto, L. B. (1999). Allometric regressions for improved estimate of secondary forest biomass in the central Amazon. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 117(1-3), 149-167.
- 32. Petropoulos, G. P., and Kalaitzidisz, C. (2012). Multispectral vegetation indices in remote sensing: an overview. *Ecological Model*, *2*, 15-39.
- Qamer, F. M., Shehzad, K., Abbas, S., Murthy, M. S. R., Xi, C., Gilani, H., and Bajracharya, B. (2016). Mapping deforestation and forest degradation patterns in western Himalaya, Pakistan. *Remote Sensing*, 8(5), 385.
- 34. Rashid, B., and Iqbal, J. (2018). Spatiotemporal change detection in forest cover dynamics along landslide susceptible region of Karakoram highway, Pakistan. *ISPRS Annals of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences*, 4, 177-184.
- 35. Ravindranath NH, Ostwald M (2008) Methods for estimating aboveground biomass. In N. H. Ravindranath, and M. Ostwald, Carbon Inventory Methods: Handbook for greenhouse gas inventory, carbon mitigation and roundwood production projects. Springer Science plus Business Media B.V 113-14
- 36. Sedjo, R., and Sohngen, B. (2012). Carbon sequestration in forests and soils. *Annu. Rev. Resour. Econ.*, *4*(1), 127-144.
- 37. Shimelis, A. (2017). Effect of forest cover on climate with implications for agriculture, animal husbandry and water provisions. *Ethiopian Journal of Environmental Studies and Management*, 10(1), 101-111.
- 38. Solomon, S. (Ed.). (2007). Climate change 2007-the physical science basis: Working group I contribution to the fourth assessment report of the IPCC (Vol. 4). Cambridge university press.
- 39. Souza, C. M., Roberts, D. A., and Monteiro, A. (2005). Multitemporal analysis of degraded forests in the southern Brazilian Amazon. *Earth Interactions*, *9*(19), 1-25.

- 40. Tian, Q., and Min, X. (1998). Advances in study on vegetation indices. *Advances in Earth Science*, *13*(4), 327.
- Ullah, M. R., and Al-Amin, M. (2012). Above-and below-ground carbon stock estimation in a natural forest of Bangladesh. *Journal of Forest Science*, 58, 2012 (8): 372–379
- 42. Vashum, K. T., and Jayakumar, S. (2012). Methods to estimate aboveground biomass and carbon stock in natural forests-a review. *Journal of Ecosystem and Ecography*, 2(4), 1-7.
- 43. World Conservation Monitoring Centre (WCMC), Forests (An Assets): Situation in Pakistan 2018.
- 44. Xue, J., and Su, B. (2017). Significant remote sensing vegetation indices: A review of developments and applications. *Journal of Sensors*, 2017.
- 45. Sheikh, M. A., Kumar, M., Todaria, N. P., and Pandey, R. (2020). Biomass and soil carbon along altitudinal gradients in temperate Cedrus deodara forests in Central Himalaya, India: Implications for climate change mitigation. *Ecological Indicators*, 111, 106025.
- 46. Wani, N. R., Qaisar, K. N., and Khan, P. A. (2014). Biomass, carbon stock and carbon dioxide mitigation potential of Cedrus deodara (deodar) under temperate conditions of Kashmir. *Can J Pure Applied Sci*, 8, 2677-2684.
- Ahmad, A., Nizami, S. M., Marwat, K. B., and Muhammad, J. U. M. A. (2015). Annual accumulation of carbon in the coniferous forest of Dir Kohistan: An inventory based estimate. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 47(SI), 115-118.
- 48. Saeed, S., Ashraf, M. I., Ahmad, A., and Rahman, Z. (2016). The Bela forest ecosystem of district Jhelum, a potential carbon sink. *Pakistan Journal of Botany*, 48(1), 121-129.
- 49. Mukul, S. A., Biswas, S. R., Rashid, A. M., Miah, D., Kabir, E., Uddin, M. B., ... and Hoque, M. A. A. (2014). A new estimate of carbon for Bangladesh forest ecosystems with their spatial distribution and REDD+ implications. *International Journal of Research on Land-use Sustainability*, 1(1), 33-41.

- 50. Salunkhe, O., Khare, P. K., Kumari, R., and Khan, M. L. (2018). A systematic review on the aboveground biomass and carbon stocks of Indian forest ecosystems. *Ecological Processes*, 7, 1-12.
- 51. Raqeeb, A., Nizami, S. M., Saleem, A., and Hanif, M. (2014). Characteristics and growing stocks volume of forest stand in dry temperate forest of Chilas Gilgit-Baltistan. *Open Journal of Forestry*, 2014.
- 52. Alijanpour, A., and Mahmoudzadeh, A. (2007). Investigation and comparison of natural regeneration structure of forest stands in protected and non-protected areas in Arasbaran. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences: PJBS*, 10(10), 1697-1702.
- 53. Bhatti, S., Ahmad, S. R., Asif, M., and Farooqi, I. U. H. (2023). Estimation of aboveground carbon stock using Sentinel-2A data and Random Forest algorithm in scrub forests of the Salt Range, Pakistan. *Forestry*, *96*(1), 104-120.
- St. Ahmad, N., Ullah, S., Zhao, N., Mumtaz, F., Ali, A., Ali, A., ... and Shakir, M. (2023). Comparative analysis of remote sensing and geo-statistical techniques to quantify forest biomass. *Forests*, 14(2), 379.
- 55. Sulistyawati, E., Ulumuddin, Y. I., Hakim, D. M., Harto, A. B., and Ramdhan, M. (2006, September). Estimation of carbon stock at landscape level using remote sensing: a case study in Mount Papandayan. *Presented on Environmental Technology and Management Conference*.
- 56. Tripathi, D. K., and Kumar, M. (2012). Remote sensing based analysis of land use/land cover dynamics in Takula Block, Almora District (Uttarakhand). *Journal of Human Ecology*, 38(3), 207-212.
- 57. Sarwar, A., Gulzar, S. S., Qayyum, M. S. N., and Khurshid, T. (2019). Land use land cover change analysis (2000-2018) of Tehsil Katlang District, Mardan, Pakistan, using GIS and remote sensing. *J Environ Agri Sci*, 20.
- 58. Sajid, M., Mohsin, M., Mobeen, M., Rehman, A., Rafique, A., Rauf, M., and Ali, G. (2023). Spatio-temporal analysis of land use change and its driving factors in Layyah, Punjab, Pakistan. *The Nucleus*, 60(1), 15-23.

- 59. Thirgood, J., and Peck, T. J. (1974). Forestry policy in the United Kingdom. *The Forestry Chronicle*, 50(4), 137-140.
- 60. Ranković, N., and Nonić, D. (1998). Creation and carrying out of the aims of forestry policy. *Glasnik Sumarskog Fakulteta (Yugoslavia)*, 39-46.
- Shit, P. K., and Pati, C. K. (2012). Non-timber forest products for livelihood security of tribal communities: a case study in Paschim Medinipur district, West Bengal. *Journal of Human Ecology*, 40(2), 149-156.
- 62. Das, C., and Teron, R. (2014). Ethnobotanical notes of the Rabha community in Mataikhar reserve forest of Kamrup district, Assam, India. *Res J Recent Sci*, 2277, 2502.
- 63. Araújo, T. M., Higuchi, N., and de Carvalho Júnior, J. A. (1999). Comparison of formulae for biomass content determination in a tropical rain forest site in the state of Pará, Brazil. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 117(1-3), 43-52.
- 64. Nogueira, E. M., Fearnside, P. M., Nelson, B. W., Barbosa, R. I., and Keizer, E. W. H. (2008). Estimates of forest biomass in the Brazilian Amazon: New allometric equations and adjustments to biomass from wood-volume inventories. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 256(11), 1853-1867.
- 65. Segura, M., and Kanninen, M. (2005). Allometric models for tree volume and total aboveground biomass in a tropical humid forest in Costa Rica
  1. *Biotropica: The Journal of Biology and Conservation*, *37*(1), 2-8.
- 66. DeFries, R. S., and Belward, A. S. (2000). Global and regional land cover characterization from satellite data: an introduction to the Special Issue. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 21(6-7), 1083-1092.
- 67. Franklin, S. E., and Wulder, M. A. (2002). Remote sensing methods in medium spatial resolution satellite data land cover classification of large areas. *Progress in Physical Geography*, *26*(2), 173-205.
- Fuller, R. M., Smith, G. M., Sanderson, J. M., Hill, R. A., and Thomson, A. G. (2002). The UK Land Cover Map 2000: construction of a parcelbased vector map from satellite images. *The Cartographic Journal*, 39(1), 15-25.

- 69. Duveiller, G., Defourny, P., Desclée, B., and Mayaux, P. (2008). Deforestation in Central Africa: Estimates at regional, national and landscape levels by advanced processing of systematically-distributed Landsat extracts. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 112(5), 1969-1981.
- Cabral, A. I. R., Vasconcelos, M. J., Oom, D., and Sardinha, R. (2011). Spatial dynamics and quantification of deforestation in the central-plateau woodlands of Angola (1990–2009). *Applied Geography*, *31*(3), 1185-1193.
- 71. Brink, A. B., and Eva, H. D. (2009). Monitoring 25 years of land cover change dynamics in Africa: A sample based remote sensing approach. *Applied Geography*, 29(4), 501-512.
- 72. Abbas, S., Shirazi, S. A., Hussain, M. S., Yaseen, M., Shakrullah, K., Wahla, S. S., and Khurshid, M. (2020). Impact of climate change on forest cover: Implications for carbon stock assessment and sustainable development in HKH region-Pakistan. *Pakistan Vision Vol. 21*
- 73. Egusa, T., Kumagai, T. O., and Shiraishi, N. (2020). Carbon stock in Japanese forests. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 7895.
- 74. Zhao, M., and Zhou, G. S. (2005). Estimation of biomass and net primary productivity of major planted forests in China based on forest inventory data. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 207(3), 295-313.
- 75. Saatchi, S. S., Harris, N. L., Brown, S., Lefsky, M., Mitchard, E. T., Salas, W., ... and Morel, A. (2011). Benchmark map of forest carbon stocks in tropical regions across three continents. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108(24), 9899-9904.
- 76. Herold, M., Román-Cuesta, R. M., Mollicone, D., Hirata, Y., Van Laake, P., Asner, G. P., and MacDicken, K. (2011). Options for monitoring and estimating historical carbon emissions from forest degradation in the context of REDD+. *Carbon Balance and Management*, 6, 1-7.
- 77. Gilani, H., Murthy, M., Bajracharya, B., Karky, B., Koju, U. A., Joshi, G., and Sohail, M. (2015). Assessment of change in forest cover and biomass using geospatial techniques to support REDD+ activities in Nepal. *ICIMOD Working Paper*, 2015/5.

- 78. Maniatis, D., and Mollicone, D. (2010). Options for sampling and stratification for national forest inventories to implement REDD+ under the UNFCCC. *Carbon Balance and Management*, 5, 1-14.
- 79. Birdsey, R., Angeles-Perez, G., Kurz, W. A., Lister, A., Olguin, M., Pan, Y., ... and Johnson, K. (2013). Approaches to monitoring changes in carbon stocks for REDD+. *Carbon Manag*, 4(5), 519-537. Jin, H., and Eklundh, L. (2014). A physically based vegetation index for improved monitoring of plant phenology. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 152, 512-525.
- 80. Basso, B., Cammarano, D., and De Vita, P. (2004). Remotely sensed vegetation indices: Theory and applications for crop management. *Rivista Italiana di Agrometeorologia*, *1*(5), 36-53.
- Hatfield, J. L., Prueger, J. H., Sauer, T. J., Dold, C., O'brien, P., and Wacha, K. (2019). Applications of vegetative indices from remote sensing to agriculture: Past and future. *Inventions*, 4(4), 71.
- 82. Glenn, E. P., Neale, C. M., Hunsaker, D. J., and Nagler, P. L. (2011). Vegetation index-based crop coefficients to estimate evapotranspiration by remote sensing in agricultural and natural ecosystems. *Hydrological Processes*, 25(26), 4050-4062.
- 83. Zeng, Y., Hao, D., Huete, A., Dechant, B., Berry, J., Chen, J. M., ... and Chen, M. (2022). Optical vegetation indices for monitoring terrestrial ecosystems globally. *Nature Reviews Earth and Environment*, 3(7), 477-493.
- 84. Doley, P. (2022). Dependency of Local People on Forest Products: A Case Study in Balipara Reserve Forest, North-Eastern India. *International Journal of Ecology and Environmental Sciences*, 48(5), 615-626.
- 85. Matta, A. F. (2019). Collection of non-timber forest products and dynamics of forest dependence. *International Journal of Social Science and Economic Research*, 4(03), 2455-8834.
- 86. Hussain, J., Zhou, K., Akbar, M., Raza, G., Ali, S., Hussain, A., ... and Ghulam, A. (2019). Dependence of rural livelihoods on forest resources in Naltar Valley, a dry temperate mountainous region, Pakistan. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 20, e00765.

- 87. Hayat, W., Khan, S., Iqbal, A., Ahmad, S., and Abbasi, A. M. (2021). Protection is better than management to maintain tree species: A case study of lesser-Himalayan moist-temperate forests of Pakistan. *Trees, Forests and People, 6*, 100149.
- 88. Khan, K. R., Iqbal, Z., Alam, J., Farooq, M., Shah, A. H., Hussain, M., ... and Ali, D. (2019). Comparative study on floristic diversity of protected and unprotected Forests of Sathan Gali, District Mansehra, KP, Pakistan. *Acta Ecologica Sinica*, 39(4), 273-279.
- Kenzo, T., Ichie, T., Hattori, D., Itioka, T., Handa, C., Ohkubo, T., ... and Ninomiya, I. (2009). Development of allometric relationships for accurate estimation of above-and below-ground biomass in tropical secondary forests in Sarawak, Malaysia. *Journal of Tropical Ecology*, 25(4), 371-386.
- Huy, B., Poudel, K. P., Kralicek, K., Hung, N. D., Khoa, P. V., Phương, V. T., and Temesgen, H. (2016). Allometric equations for estimating tree aboveground biomass in tropical dipterocarp forests of Vietnam. *Forests*, 7(8), 180.
- 91. Salunkhe, O., Khare, P. K., Kumari, R., and Khan, M. L. (2018). A systematic review on the aboveground biomass and carbon stocks of Indian forest ecosystems. *Ecological Processes*, 7, 1-12.
- 92. Nizami, S. M. (2012). The inventory of the carbon stocks in sub tropical forests of Pakistan for reporting under Kyoto Protocol. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 23(3), 377-384.
- 93. Sajjad, A., Hussain, A., Wahab, U., Adnan, S., Ali, S., Ahmad, Z., and Ali, A. (2015). Application of remote sensing and GIS in forest cover change in Tehsil Barawal, District Dir, Pakistan. *American Journal of Plant Sciences*, 6(9), 1501-1508.
- 94. Acharjee, S., Changmai, M., Bhattacharjee, S., and Mahanta, J. (2012). Forest cover change detection using remote sensing and GIS–A study of Jorhat and Golaghat district, Assam. *International Journal of Environment And Resource*, 1(2), 45-49.
- 95. Deb, D., Singh, J. P., Deb, S., Datta, D., Ghosh, A., and Chaurasia, R. S. (2017). An alternative approach for estimating above ground biomass

using Resourcesat-2 satellite data and artificial neural network in Bundelkhand region of India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 189, 1-12.

- 96. Pandey, P. C., Srivastava, P. K., Chetri, T., Choudhary, B. K., and Kumar, P. (2019). Forest biomass estimation using remote sensing and field inventory: a case study of Tripura, India. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 191, 1-15.
- 97. Lima, A. J. N., Suwa, R., de Mello Ribeiro, G. H. P., Kajimoto, T., dos Santos, J., da Silva, R. P., ... and Higuchi, N. (2012). Allometric models for estimating above-and below-ground biomass in Amazonian forests at São Gabriel da Cachoeira in the upper Rio Negro, Brazil. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 277, 163-172.
- 98. Nogueira, E. M., Fearnside, P. M., Nelson, B. W., Barbosa, R. I., and Keizer, E. W. H. (2008). Estimates of forest biomass in the Brazilian Amazon: New allometric equations and adjustments to biomass from wood-volume inventories. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 256(11), 1853-1867.
- 99. Vieilledent, G., Vaudry, R., Andriamanohisoa, S. F., Rakotonarivo, O. S., Randrianasolo, H. Z., Razafindrabe, H. N., and Rasamoelina, M. (2012). A universal approach to estimate biomass and carbon stock in tropical forests using generic allometric models. *Ecological Applications*, 22(2), 572-583.
- 100. Teillet, P. M., Staenz, K., and William, D. J. (1997). Effects of spectral, spatial, and radiometric characteristics on remote sensing vegetation indices of forested regions. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 61(1), 139-149.
- Kalaitzidis, C., Heinzel, V., and Zianis, D. (2010). A review of multispectral vegetation indices for biomass estimation. *Imagin [e, g] Europe*, 201-208.
- Ahmad, A., Ahmad, S., Nabi, G., Liu, Q. J., Islam, N., and Luan, X. (2022). Trends in deforestation as a response to management regimes and policy intervention in the Hindu Kush Himalaya of Pakistan. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, *10*, 810806.

- 103. Mehmood, K., Anees, S. A., Rehman, A., Tariq, A., Liu, Q., Muhammad, S., ... and Hatamleh, W. A. (2024). Assessing forest cover changes and fragmentation in the Himalayan Temperate Region: Implications for forest conservation and management. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 35(1), 82.
- 104. Vinayakumar, K. H., Raveesha, K. A., and Prakash, M. (2016).
  Spatio-Temporal Change Detection of Vegetation Cover in Kalbetta State Forest, Karnataka, India. *Int J Sci Res*, 5(10), 1822-1826.
- 105. Manjunatha, M. C., and Basavarajappa, H. T. (2017). Anthropogenic pressure on forest cover and its change detection analysis using geo-informatics in Holalkere taluk of Chitradurga district, Karnataka, India. *International Journal of Scientific Research in Science* and Technology (IJSRST), 3(1), 71-76.
- 106. Kumari, M., Das, A., Sharma, R., and Saikia, S. (2014). Change detection analysis using multi temporal satellite data of Poba reserve forest, Assam and Arunachal Pradesh. *International Journal of Geomatics and Geosciences*, 4(3), 517-525.
- 107. Pearson, T. R. (2007). Measurement Guidelines For The Sequestration Of Forest Carbon (Vol. 18). US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Northern Research Station.
- 108. Kurz, W. A., and Apps, M. J. (2006). Developing Canada's national forest carbon monitoring, accounting and reporting system to meet the reporting requirements of the Kyoto Protocol. *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change*, *11*, 33-43.
- 109. Fahey, T. J., Woodbury, P. B., Battles, J. J., Goodale, C. L., Hamburg, S. P., Ollinger, S. V., and Woodall, C. W. (2010). Forest carbon storage: ecology, management, and policy. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 8(5), 245-252.
- Richards, K. R., and Stokes, C. (2004). A review of forest carbon sequestration cost studies: a dozen years of research. *Climatic Change*, 63(1), 1-48.
- 111. Turner, D. P., Koerper, G. J., Harmon, M. E., and Lee, J. J. (1995).Carbon sequestration by forests of the United States. Current status and

projections to the year 2040. *Tellus B: Chemical and Physical Meteorology*, 47(1-2), 232-239.

- 112. Amanuel, W., Tesfaye, M., Worku, A., Seyoum, G., and Mekonnen, Z. (2019). The role of dry land forests for climate change adaptation: the case of Liben Woreda, Southern Oromia, Ethiopia. *Journal of Ecology and Environment*, 43, 1-13.
- 113. Meragiaw, M. (2017). Role of agroforestry and plantation on climate change mitigation and carbon sequestration in Ethiopia. *Journal of Tree Sciences*, *36*(1), 1-15.
- 114. Shimelis, A. (2016). Ecosystem functions and services of cloud afromontane forests in Ethiopia. *Ethiopian Journal of Environmental Studies and Management*, *9*(1), 928-937.
- Hasan, A. F., Laurent, F., Messner, F., Bourgoin, C., and Blanc, L. (2019). Cumulative disturbances to assess forest degradation using spectral unmixing in the northeastern Amazon. *Applied Vegetation Science*, 22(3), 394-408.
- 116. Halbgewachs, M., Wegmann, M., and Da Ponte, E. (2022). A spectral mixture analysis and landscape metrics based framework for monitoring spatiotemporal forest cover changes: A case study in Mato Grosso, Brazil. *Remote Sensing*, 14(8), 1907.
- Souza Jr, C., Firestone, L., Silva, L. M., and Roberts, D. (2003).
   Mapping forest degradation in the Eastern Amazon from SPOT 4 through spectral mixture models. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 87(4), 494-506.
- 118. Bannari, A., Morin, D., Bonn, F., and Huete, A. (1995). A review of vegetation indices. *Remote sensing reviews*, *13*(1-2), 95-120.
- Chandra, P. (2011). Performance evaluation of vegetation indices using remotely sensed data. *International Journal of Geomatics and Geosciences*, 2(1), 231-240.
- 120. Sun, G., Jiao, Z., Zhang, A., Li, F., Fu, H., and Li, Z. (2021). Hyperspectral image-based vegetation index (HSVI): A new vegetation index for urban ecological research. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 103, 102529.

- 121. Shaheen, H., Khan, R. W. A., Hussain, K., Ullah, T. S., Nasir, M., and Mehmood, A. (2016). Carbon stocks assessment in subtropical forest types of Kashmir Himalayas. *Pak. J. Botany*, 48(6), 2351-2357.
- 122. Nizami, S. M. (2012). The inventory of the carbon stocks in sub tropical forests of Pakistan for reporting under Kyoto Protocol. *Journal of Forestry Research*, 23(3), 377-384.
- 123. Baral, S. K., Malla, R., and Ranabhat, S. (2009). Above-ground carbon stock assessment in different forest types of Nepal. *Banko Janakari*, 19(2), 10-14.
- 124. Juwarkar, A. A., Varghese, A. O., Singh, S. K., Aher, V. V., and Thawale, P. R. (2011). Carbon sequestration potential in aboveground biomass of natural reserve forest of Central India. *International Journal of Agriculture: Research and Review, 2011, Vol. 1, No. 2, 80-86.*
- 125. Brown, S. (2002). Measuring carbon in forests: current status and future challenges. *Environmental Pollution*, *116*(3), 363-372.
- Salunkhe, O., Khare, P. K., Kumari, R., and Khan, M. L. (2018).
   A systematic review on the aboveground biomass and carbon stocks of Indian forest ecosystems. *Ecological Processes*, 7, 1-12.
- 127. Haripriya, G. S. (2000). Estimates of biomass in Indian forests. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, *19*(4), 245-258.
- Manhas, R. K., Negi, J. D. S., Kumar, R., and Chauhan, P. S. (2006). Temporal assessment of growing stock, biomass and carbon stock of Indian forests. *Climatic Change*, 74, 191-221.
- Malhi, Y., Baldocchi, D. D., and Jarvis, P. G. (1999). The carbon balance of tropical, temperate and boreal forests. *Plant, Cell and Environment*, 22(6), 715-740.
- 130. Shah, R. K., and Shah, R. K. (2023). Forest cover change detection using remote sensing and GIS in Dibru-Saikhowa National Park, Assam:
  a spatio-temporal study. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, India Section B: Biological Sciences, 93*(3), 559-564.
- 131. Devi, R. M., Sinha, B., Bisaria, J., and Saran, S. (2018). Multitemporal analysis of forest cover change using remote sensing and GIS of Kanha Tiger Reserve, Central India. *The International Archives of*

the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, 42, 211-219.

- Khan, S. A., Gulfishan, M., Mir, R. A., and Andrabi, S. A. H. (2023). Analysis of forest cover change and its environmental impact in Kupwara region of Jammu and Kashmir through remote sensing. *Environment and Ecology* 41 (1) : 86-95.
- 133. Tian, Q., and Min, X. (1998). Advances in study on vegetation indices. *Advances in Earth Science*, *13*(4), 327.
- 134. Sun, G., Jiao, Z., Zhang, A., Li, F., Fu, H., and Li, Z. (2021). Hyperspectral image-based vegetation index (HSVI): A new vegetation index for urban ecological research. *International Journal of Applied Earth Observation and Geoinformation*, 103, 102529.
- 135. Glenn, E. P., Huete, A. R., Nagler, P. L., and Nelson, S. G. (2008). Relationship between remotely-sensed vegetation indices, canopy attributes and plant physiological processes: What vegetation indices can and cannot tell us about the landscape. *Sensors*, 8(4), 2136-2160.
- Viña, A., Gitelson, A. A., Nguy-Robertson, A. L., and Peng, Y. (2011). Comparison of different vegetation indices for the remote assessment of green leaf area index of crops. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 115(12), 3468-3478.

# Appendices

FID	grid_coor_x	grid_coor_y Area		AGB (t/ha)	BGB (t/ha)
1	89.19517021	37.64450166	Abbotabad	30.74825	7.994545
2	89.18517021	37.64350166	Abbotabad	3.409615	0.8865
3	89.20517021	37.64350166	Abbotabad	2.079115	0.54057
4	89.20517021	37.64550166	Abbotabad	56.34455	23.45443
5	89.18517021	37.64550166	Abbotabad	65.24553	32.53211
6	90.40276069	37.68208978	Abbotabad	43.08017	11.20084
7	90.39276069	37.68108978	Abbotabad	12.58355	3.271723
8	90.39276069	37.68308978	Abbotabad	25.87597	6.727751
9	90.41276069	37.68308978	Abbotabad	33.01147	8.582981
10	90.41276069	37.68108978	Abbotabad	78.45335	38.53463
11	90.71669038	37.7774209	Abbotabad	156.2209	40.61743
12	90.72669038	37.7764209	Abbotabad	46.31012	12.04063
13	90.72669038	37.7784209	Abbotabad	66.54227	17.30099
14	90.70669038	3777842.09	Abbotabad	109.6117	28.49904
15	90.70669038	37.7764209	Abbotabad	53.79727	13.98729
16	90.04536915	37.81888874	Abbotabad	232.2558	60.38652
17	90.03536915	37.81788874	Abbotabad	86.1186	22.39084
18	90.03536915	37.81988874	Abbotabad	21.43035	5.571891
19	90.05536915	37.81788874	Abbotabad	134.1977	34.89139
20	90.05536915	37.81988874	Abbotabad	37.73455	9.810982
21	91.02987655	37.90313092	Abbotabad	62.79402	16.32645
22	91.01987655	37.90213092	Abbotabad	53.45059	13.89715
23	91.01987655	37.90413092	Abbotabad	54.67614	14.2158
24	91.03987655	37.90213092	Abbotabad	24.68912	6.419171
25	91.03987655	37.90413092	Abbotabad	90.345	44.75389
26	89.97211613	37.95308497	Abbotabad	68.00703	17.68183
27	89.98211613	37.95208497	Abbotabad	42.26499	10.9889
28	89.98211613	37.95408497	Abbotabad	63.92934	16.62163
29	89.96211613	37.95408497	Abbotabad	179.7804	46.74289
30	89.96211613	37.95208497	Abbotabad	212.0041	55.12106
31	89.36425213	37.99651996	Abbotabad	23.97239	6.232822
32	89.36425213	37.99851996	Abbotabad	20.05757	5.214967
33	89.38435213	37.99851996	Abbotabad	52.07169	13.53864
34	89.38425213	37.99651996	Abbotabad	37.38259	9.719474
35	89.37425213	37.99751996	Abbotabad	72.34427	18.80951

## **Appendix 1- Forest Inventory Data.**

ID	Longitude	Latitude	Area	NDVI	AGB t/ha	AGC t/ha
1	891951.7021	3764450.166	Abbotabad	0.300705	239.006	112.3328
2	891851.7021	3764350.166	Abbotabad	0.275231	131.065	61.60055
3	892051.7021	3764350.166	Abbotabad	0.312257	229.123	107.6878
4	892051.7021	3764550.166	Abbotabad	0.380069	237.231	111.4986
5	891851.7021	3764550.166	Abbotabad	0.345877	265.016	124.5575
6	904027.6069	3768208.978	Abbotabad	0.307024	145.256	68.27032
7	903927.6069	3768108.978	Abbotabad	0.292094	170.145	79.96815
8	903927.6069	3768308.978	Abbotabad	0.228268	93.345	43.87215
9	904127.6069	3768308.978	Abbotabad	0.279251	163.023	76.62081
10	904127.6069	3768108.978	Abbotabad	0.293508	146.098	68.66606
11	907166.9038	3777742.09	Abbotabad	0.30513	176.594	82.99918
12	907266.9038	3777642.09	Abbotabad	0.302968	234.231	110.0886
13	907266.9038	3777842.09	Abbotabad	0.295889	119.173	56.01131
14	907066.9038	3777842.09	Abbotabad	0.336334	230.014	108.1066
15	907066.9038	3777642.09	Abbotabad	0.243924	189.356	88.99732
16	900353.6915	3781788.874	Abbotabad	0.284481	132.519	62.28393
17	900353.6915	3781988.874	Abbotabad	0.276956	149.187	70.11789
18	900553.6915	3781788.874	Abbotabad	0.217601	170.387	80.08189
19	900553.6915	3781988.874	Abbotabad	0.252902	156.786	73.68942
20	910298.7655	3790313.092	Abbotabad	0.333448	178.276	83.78972
21	910198.7655	3790213.092	Abbotabad	0.329835	244.498	114.9141
22	910198.7655	3790413.092	Abbotabad	0.354821	205.409	96.54223
23	910398.7655	3790213.092	Abbotabad	0.376049	238.167	111.9385
24	910398.7655	3790413.092	Abbotabad	0.294346	193.39	90.8933
25	899721.1613	3795308.497	Abbotabad	0.22742	113.278	53.24066
26	899821.1613	3795208.497	Abbotabad	0.299683	176.709	83.05323
27	899821.1613	3795408.497	Abbotabad	0.28227	216.247	101.6361
28	899621.1613	3795408.497	Abbotabad	0.259764	161.378	75.84766
29	893642.5213	3799651.996	Abbotabad	0.322175	184.378	86.65766
30	893642.5213	3799851.996	Abbotabad	0.296692	177.673	83.50631
31	893842.5213	3799851.996	Abbotabad	0.298774	159.382	74.90954
32	893842.5213	3799651.996	Abbotabad	0.216876	111.376	52.34672
33	893742.5213	3799751.996	Abbotabad	0.29694	155.921	73.28287

Appendix 2- Estimated AGB in Abbottabad District.

Statistics	AGB(t/ha)	AGC(t/ha)	BGB(t/ha)	BGC(t/ha)	Total	Total	CO <sub>2</sub> e
					Biomass(t/ha)	Carbon(t/ha)	(t/ha)
Minimum	93.35	43.87	24.27	11.41	117.61	55.28	202.32
Maximum	265.02	124.56	68.90	32.38	333.92	156.94	574.41
Sum	5893.63	2770.01	1532.35	720.20	7425.98	3490.21	12774.18
Mean	178.60	83.94	46.43	21.82	225.03	105.76	387.10
St. Dev	44.12	20.74	11.47	5.39	55.59	26.13	95.63
St. Error	7.68	3.61	2.00	0.94	9.68	4.55	16.65

Appendix 3- Carbon Stock Estimated in ROI.

## Appendix 4- Land use and Land cover calculations of year 2011 and 2022.

2011			2022			
LULC	Area (ha)	Percentage	Area	Percentage	Area change	% change
Agriculture	25386.82	14	13779.55	0.7	-11607.28	-13.3
Bareland	16171.82	0.8	6168.79	0.3	-10003.04	-0.5
Forest	28475.37	15	44872.17	24	16396.80	9
Urban	6705.03	0.3	11226.30	0.6	4521.26	0.3
Vegetation	99633.81	55	96626.94	53	-3006.86	-2
Water	3796.71	0.2	7496.16	0.4	3699.45	0.2